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 Classified : Public 

 
 

Board of Directors  
 
 

The Board of Directors are pleased to present their report and audited financial statements 
for First Abu Dhabi Islamic Finance Pvt.JSC, formerly known as Abu Dhabi National Islamic 
Finance Pvt.JSC, 21. 
 
Principal Activities 
The principal activities of the Company consist of Islamic financing, investments and other 
services in accordance with I  
 
Results 
During the year, the Company has recorded total assets of AED 638,769 thousand (2020: 
AED 737,648 thousand). The net profit for the year amounted to AED 8,272 thousand (2020: 
AED 12,608 thousand).  The total comprehensive income for the year amounted to AED 
8,272 thousand (2020: AED 14,750 thousand).  
 
Going concern basis 
The Board of Directors has reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate 
resources and support to continue its operational existence for the foreseeable future. For 
this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2021. 

 
Related party transactions 
The financial statements disclose related party transactions and balances which are 
disclosed in note 19. All transactions are carried out as part of our normal course of business 
and in compliance with applicable laws and regulations. 
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Independent auditors’ report  
 

To the Shareholders of First Abu Dhabi Bank Islamic Finance Pvt. JSC 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of First Abu Dhabi Bank Islamic Finance Pvt. 
JSC (“the Company”), which comprise the statement of financial position as at                  
31 December 2021, the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2021, and its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).  

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the Company in accordance with International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including 
International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) together with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the United Arab 
Emirates, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 
the Board of Directors’ report.  
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First Abu Dhabi Bank Islamic Finance Pvt. JSC  
Independent Auditors’ Report 

31 December 2021 

 

Other Information (continued) 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, 
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with IFRS and their preparation in compliance with the 
applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015 (as amended) and for such 
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.  

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with Governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial 
reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and 
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
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First Abu Dhabi Bank Islamic Finance Pvt. JSC  
Independent Auditors’ Report 

31 December 2021 

 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued) 

 

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 
 

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.  

 

— Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the 
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 

— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

Further, as required by the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015 (as amended), we report that 
for the year ended 31 December 2021: 

i) we have obtained all the information and explanations we considered necessary for 
the purposes of our audit; 

ii) the financial statements have been prepared and comply, in all material respects, 
with the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015 (as amended);   

iii) the Company has maintained proper books of account; 

iv) the financial information included in the Board of Directors’ report is consistent with 
the books of account of the Company;  

v) as disclosed in note 1 to the financial statements, the Company has not purchased 
any shares during the year ended 31 December 2021; 

vi) note 19 to the financial statements discloses material related party transactions and 
the terms under which they were conducted; and 
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First Abu Dhabi Bank Islamic Finance Pvt. JSC  
Independent Auditors’ Report 

31 December 2021 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements (continued) 

vii) based on the information that has been made available to us, nothing has come to
our attention which causes us to believe that the Company has contravened during
the financial year ended 31 December 2021 any of the applicable provisions of the
UAE Federal Law No.(2) of 2015 (as amended) or its Articles of Association, which
would materially affect its activities or its financial position as at 31 December 2021.

KPMG Lower Gulf Limited 

Richard Ackland 
Registration No.: 1015 

Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates 
Date : 30 March 2022
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Classified : Public

Statement of financial position
As at 31 December

Assets Note 2021 2020

Cash and balances with bank 4         291,277 310,275
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 5            67,940 70,970
Due from banks and financial institutions 6                     -   65,000
Islamic financing 7         100,049 138,751
Property and equipment 8              1,936 1,457
Other assets 9         177,567 151,195

--------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------
Total assets         638,769 737,648

================ ================
Liabilities

Other liabilities 10            18,986 26,137
---------------------------------------- ----------------------------------------

Total liabilities 18,986 26,137

Equity
Share capital 11         500,000 500,000
Statutory and special reserves            84,726 83,072
Other reserves 11              6,195 5,667
Retained earnings            28,862 122,772

--------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------
Total equity         619,783 711,511

----------------------------------------- -----------------------------------------
Total liabilities and equity         638,769 737,648

================= ================

To the best of our knowledge, the financial statements present fairly in all material respects the financial condition, financial 
performance and cash flow of the Company as of and for, the periods presented therein.

   
                  Chief Executive Officer     Chief Financial Officer

The notes 1 to 22 are an integral part of these financial statements.
audit of financial statements is set out on pages 2 to 5.
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Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
For the year ended 31 December 
 

 
Note 2021 

AED’000 
2020 

AED’000 
    

Profit income 12 
   

13,865  
 

 
19,190  

  
Depositors’ share of profit 13 (3,563) (3,563) 

  ------------------------------------- ------------------------------------- 

Net profit income  
   

10,302  
 

15,627   

    
Fee and commission income  1 1 
Fee and commission expense  (266)  (142) 
  ------------------------------------- ------------------------------------- 
Net fee and commission expense  (265) (141)   
    

Net (loss) on investments and derivatives  (727) 
 

(423) 
 

Management fee income 14 56,855 64,318   
  ------------------------------------ ------------------------------------ 
Operating income  66,165       79,381   
    
General, administration and other operating expenses 15 (58,281) (65,796) 
  --------------------------------- --------------------------------- 
Profit before net impairment charge  7,884 13,585 
        
Net impairment charge 16 388 (977) 
  ---------------------------------- ---------------------------------- 
Profit for the year  8,272 12,608  
  ================ =============== 
 
Other comprehensive income   

   
Re-measurement of defined benefit obligations - 2,142 
 ---------------------------- ---------------------------- 
Total comprehensive income for the year 8,272 14,750 
 ============= ============= 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes 1 to 22 are an integral part of these financial statements.  
The independent auditors’ report on audit of financial statements is set out on pages 2 to 5.  
 
 



 

8 
 

Statement of cash flows 
For the year ended 31 December 
 

 Note 2021 
AED’000 

2020 
AED’000 

Cash flows from operating activities    

Profit  for the year 
     

8,272  
 

12,608 
Adjustments for:    
Depreciation  15 1,078 612 
Net impairment charge 16 (388) 977  
Property and Equipment written off  - - 
  -------------------------------------- -------------------------------------- 
  8,962 14,197   
Changes in:    
Investments at fair value through profit or loss  3,030 369   
Islamic financing  39,091 91,193   
Other assets  (26,372) (32,153)   
Other liabilities  (7,151) (1,264)   
  -------------------------------------- -------------------------------------- 
Net cash from operating activities  17,560 72,342 
    
Cash flows from investing activities    
Due from banks and financial institutions  65,000 - 
Purchase of property and equipment  (1,558) (51)   
  -------------------------------------- -------------------------------------- 
Net cash from / (used in) from investing activities  63,442 (51) 
  -------------------------------------- -------------------------------------- 
Cash flows from financing activities     
Dividend paid to Parent  (100,000) - 
  -------------------------------------- -------------------------------------- 
Net Cash used in financing activities  (100,000) - 
    
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents  (18,998) 72,291   

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 
  

310,275 
 

237,984 
  -------------------------------------- -------------------------------------- 
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 17 291,277 310,275   
  ============= ============= 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes 1 to 22 are an integral part of these financial statements.  
The independent auditors’ report on audit of financial statements is set out on pages 2 to 5.  
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Statement of changes in equity  

 
 
The notes 1 to 22 are an integral part of these financial statements.  
The independent auditors’ report on audit of financial statements is set out on pages 2 to 5. 

 
 

Share 
capital 

Statutory 
reserves 

Special 
reserves 

Other 
reserves 

Retained 
earnings Total 

 AED ‘000 AED ‘000 AED ‘000 AED ‘000 AED ‘000 AED ‘000 

Balance at 1 January 2021 500,000 41,536 41,536 5,667 122,772 711,511 

Repatriation of  dividends to Parent - - - - (100,000) (100,000) 

Profit for the year  -  -  -  -   8,272  8,272  

Other comprehensive income for the year - - - - - - 
Transfer to statutory reserve  -  827  -  -  (827) - 

Transfer to special reserve  -   827  -  (827) - 

Transfer to other Reserve  -  -  - 528  (528) - 

 ---------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------- ------------------------------------ -------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------- ------------------------------------- 
Balance at 31 December 2021 500,000 42,363 42,363 6,195 28,862 619,783 
 ================= ================ ============== ============== ================ ================ 
       

Balance at 1 January 2020 500,000 40,275 40,275 2,578 113,633 696,761 

Repatriation of  dividends to Parent - - - - 12,608 12,608 
Profit for the year - - - - 2,142 2,142 

Transfer to statutory reserve - 1,261 - - (1,261) - 
Transfer to special reserve - - 1,261 - (1,261) - 
Transfer to other Reserve - - - 3,089 (3,089) - 
 ---------------------- ------------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -------------------- 
Balance at 31 December 2020 500,000 41,536 41,536 5,667 122,772 711,511 
 =============== ================ ============== ============== ================ ================ 
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Notes to the financial statements 

1 Legal status and principal activities 

First Abu Dhabi Islamic Finance Pvt.JSC (the “Company”) is a private joint stock Company incorporated in the Emirate of 
Abu Dhabi on 14 November 2007 in accordance with the provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. 2 of 2015 Commercial 
Companies Law .The Company operates through its branches in Abu Dhabi, Dubai, Al Ain, Sharjah and Ras Al Khaimah. 

The Company is primarily engaged in financing and investing activities that are conducted in accordance with Islamic 
Sharia’a principles approved by the Company’s Sharia’a Supervisory Board.  

On 24 June 2018, Abu Dhabi National Islamic Finance PVT.JSC (ADNIF) board of directors approved the proposal to 
change the name of the company to ‘First Abu Dhabi Islamic Finance Pvt.JSC” (FAB ISLAMIC). The registered office of the 
Company is Golden Beach Tower, Corniche Street, P.O. Box 40057, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates. 

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of First Abu Dhabi Bank (formerly a subsidiary of National Bank of Abu Dhabi 
PJSC, the “Parent”). 

On 7 December 2016, shareholders of National Bank of Abu Dhabi PJSC (“NBAD”) and First Gulf Bank PJSC (“FGB”) 
approved the merger of the two banks pursuant to Article 283(1) of UAE Federal Law No. 2 of 2015 Concerning 
Commercial Companies (the Law). The merger was effected through the issuance of 1.254 new NBAD shares for every 1 
share in FGB on close of business 30 March 2017, subsequent to which FGB shares were delisted from Abu Dhabi 
Securities Exchange. On 25 April 2017, NBAD shareholders approved the proposal to change the name of the combined 
bank to ‘First Abu Dhabi Bank’ (the “Bank”) and have its registered office in FAB Building, Khalifa Business Park 1 Al 
Qurum P. O. Box 6316 Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates. 

The Company has not purchased any shares during the period ended 31 December 2021. 

2 Basis of Preparation 

(a) Statement of Compliance
These financial statements have been prepared on going concern basis in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and comply with the 

requirements of applicable laws in the UAE. IFRSs comprise accounting standards issued by the IASB as well as 

Interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). 
The Company is required, for the year ended 31 December 2021, to be in compliance with the provisions of the UAE 

Federal Law No. 2 of 2015, as amended. On 20 September 2021, the UAE Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021 was issued 
and came into effect on 2 January 2022 which repealed the UAE Federal Law No. 2 of 2015 (as amended). The Company 
has 12 months from 2 January 2022 to comply with the provisions of the UAE Federal Decree Law No 32 of 2021. 

These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2022.

(b) Basis of measurement

These financial statements are prepared under the historical cost basis except for the following:

• investments at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value; 
• derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value;
• non-trading investments classified at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) are measured at fair 

value; 

(c) Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in United Arab Emirates Dirhams (“AED”), which is the Company’s functional 

currency. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 

2 Basis of Preparation (continued) 
 

 (d) Use of estimates and judgments 
 
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect 
the application of accounting policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expense. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates. 
 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised prospectively.  
 
Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in applying accounting policies that 
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in these financial statements are described in note 21. 
 

3 Significant accounting policies 
 

(a) New and Amended standards and interpretations adopted 
 
The following amendments to existing standards and framework have been applied by the Company in preparation of 
these financial statements. The adoption of the below did not result in changes to previously reported net profit or equity 
of the Company. 
 
Description Effective from 
 

 
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2 (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 
4 and IFRS 16) 1 January 2021 

 

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform: 
 
On 27 August 2020 the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB or the Board) published ‘Interest Rate Benchmark 
reform – Phase 2, Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 (IBOR reform Phase 2). IBOR reform Phase 2 
includes a number of reliefs and additional disclosures. The reliefs apply upon the transition of a financial instrument 
from an Interbank offered rate (“IBOR”) to an alternative risk-free benchmark reference rate (“RFR”). 
 
The first phase of amendments i.e. ‘Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7’  
(IBOR reform Phase 1), which provided temporary reliefs to enable hedge accounting to continue during the period of 
uncertainty before the replacement of an IBOR with RFR, were adopted for the year ended 31 December 2020  
and continue to be in force until uncertainty over the cash flows of both the hedged item and hedging instrument no 
longer exist. 
 
The effective date of the IBOR reform Phase 2 amendments is for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021. The 
requirements must be applied retrospectively. The Company has adopted the IBOR reform Phase 2 amendments in its 
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021. The Phase 2 amendments have been applied retrospectively.  
 
The Phase 2 amendments provide practical relief from certain requirements in the standards. These reliefs relate to 
modifications of financial instruments, lease contracts or hedging relationships when a benchmark interest rate in a 
contract is replaced with a new alternative benchmark rate. The amendments also provide an exception to use a revised 
discount rate that reflects the change in interest rate when remeasuring a lease liability because of a lease modification 
that is required by interest rate benchmark reform. Finally, the Phase 2 amendments provide a series of reliefs from 
certain hedge accounting requirements when a change required by interest rate benchmark reform occurs to a hedged 
item and/or hedging instrument and consequently the hedge relationship can be continued without any interruption. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
(b) Financial assets and liabilities 

 

(i) Recognition and initial measurement 
 

The Company initially recognizes Islamic financing and customers’ deposits on the date on which they are originated. All 
other financial instruments (including regular way purchases and sales of financial assets) are recognized on the trade 
date, which is the date on which the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  

 
All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the settlement date, i.e. the date the asset is 
delivered to or received from the counterparty. Regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are those that require 
delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the market place. 

 
(ii)  Classification  

 
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost, FVOCI or FVTPL. A financial asset is 
measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL: 
 

• the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; 
and 

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are Solely Payment 
of Principal and Profit “SPPP”. 

 
In addition, on initial recognition, the Company may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the 
requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an 
accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. 
 
A debt instrument is measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at 
FVTPL: 

• the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows 
and selling financial assets; and  

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are Solely Payment 
of Principal and Profit “SPPP”. 

 
On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Company may irrevocably elect to present 
subsequent changes in fair value in OCI. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis. 
 
All other financial assets are classified as measured at FVTPL. 
 

 
Business model assessment 
 
The Company makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which an asset is held at a portfolio level 
because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to management. The information 
considered includes: 
 

• the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. In particular, 
whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual profit revenue, maintaining a particular profit 
rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of the liabilities that are funding those 
assets or realising cash flows through the sale of the assets; 

• how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Company’s management; 
• the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business 

model) and its strategy for how those risks are managed; 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
(b) Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

 
(ii) Classification (continued) 

 
• how managers of the business are compensated (e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of the 

assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected); and 
• the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its expectations about 

future sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not considered in isolation, but as part of an 
overall assessment of how the Company’s stated objective for managing the financial assets is achieved and 
how much cash flows are realised. 

 
Financial assets that are held for trading or managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis are 
measured at FVTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held both to collect contractual 
cash flows and to sell financial assets. 
 
Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and profit  
 
For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition. 
‘Profit’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount 
outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and 
administrative costs), as well as profit margin. 

 
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPP, the Company considers the contractual terms of the 
instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing 
or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making the assessment, the company 
considers: 
 

• contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows;  
• leverage features;  
• prepayment and extension terms;  
• terms that limit the Company’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g.non-recourse islamic financing ); 

and  
• features that modify consideration of the time value of money (e.g. periodical reset of profit rates). 

 
Financial liabilities 
 
The Company classifies its financial liabilities as measured at amortised cost or fair value through profit or loss. 

 
(iii) De-recognition 

 
Financial assets 
 
The Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire 
(see also 3b(iv)), or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of 
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Company neither transfers nor 
retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset. 
 
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying amount 
allocated to the portion of the asset derecognised) and the sum of (i) the consideration received (including any new asset 
obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in OCI is recognised 
in profit or loss. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(iii) De-recognition (continued) 
 

In transactions in which the Company neither retains nor transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership 
of a financial asset and it retains control over the asset, the Company continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its 
continuing involvement, determined by the extent to which it is exposed to changes in the value of the transferred asset. 
 
Financial liabilities 
 
The Company derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expire. 
 

(iv)    Modifications of financial assets and financial liabilities 
 
Financial assets 
 
If the terms of a financial asset are modified, then the Company evaluates whether the cash flows of the modified asset 
are substantially different. If the cash flows are substantially different, then the contractual rights to cash flows from the 
original financial asset are deemed to have expired. In this case, the original financial asset is derecognised and a new 
financial asset is recognised at fair value plus any eligible transaction costs. Any fees received as part of the modification 
are accounted for as follows: 
 

• fees that are considered in determining the fair value of the new asset and fees that represent reimbursement 
of eligible transaction costs are included in the initial measurement of the asset; and 

• other fees are included in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on derecognition. 
 
If cash flows are modified when the borrower is in financial difficulties, then the objective of the modification is usually 
to maximise recovery of the original contractual terms rather than to originate a new asset with substantially different 
terms. If the Company plans to modify a financial asset in a way that would result in forgiveness of cash flows, then it 
first considers whether a portion of the asset should be written off before the modification takes place. This approach 
impacts the result of the quantitative evaluation and means that the derecognition criteria are not usually met in such 
cases. 

 
If the modification of a financial asset measured at amortised cost or FVOCI does not result in derecognition of the 
financial asset, then the Company first recalculates the gross carrying amount of the financial asset using the original 
effective profit rate of the asset and recognises the resulting adjustment as a modification gain or loss in profit or loss. 
For floating-rate financial assets, the original effective profit rate used to calculate the modification gain or loss is adjusted 
to reflect current market terms at the time of the modification. Any costs or fees incurred and fees receivable as part of 
the modification adjust the gross carrying amount of the modified financial asset and are amortised over the remaining 
term of the modified financial asset. 
 
In the context of IBOR reform, the Company’s assessment of whether a change to a financial asset is substantial, is made 
after applying the practical expedient introduced by IBOR reform Phase 2. Under the Phase 2 Interest Rate Benchmark 
Reform amendments to IFRS 9, changes to the basis for determining contractual cash flows as a direct result of interest 
rate benchmark reform are treated as changes to a floating interest rate to that instrument, provided that the transition 
from the IBOR benchmark rate to the alternative RFR takes place on an economically equivalent basis.  
 
Where the instrument is measured at amortized cost or FVOCI, this results in a change in the instrument’s effective 
interest rate, with no change in the amortized cost value of the instrument. If the change to the instrument does not 
meet these criteria, the Company applies judgement to assess whether the changes are substantial and if they are, the 
financial instrument is derecognized and a new financial instrument is recognized. If the changes are not substantial, the 
Company continues to carry the financial instrument at its current carrying value with the difference adjusted in revised 
effective interest rate on prospective basis. adjusts the gross carrying amount of the financial instrument by the present 
value of the changes not covered by the practical expedient, discounted using the revised effective interest rate. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 

3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(iv) Modifications of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 
 
Financial liabilities (continued) 
 
The Company derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability 
are substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value. 
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and consideration paid is recognised 
in profit or loss. Consideration paid includes non-financial assets transferred, if any, and the assumption of liabilities, 
including the new modified financial liability. 
 
If the modification of a financial liability is not accounted for as derecognition, then the amortised cost of the liability is 
recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original effective profit rate and the resulting gain or loss is 
recognised in profit or loss. For floating-rate financial liabilities, the original effective profit rate used to calculate the 
modification gain or loss is adjusted to reflect current market terms at the time of the modification. Any costs and fees 
incurred are recognised as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the liability and amortised over the remaining term 
of the modified financial liability by re-computing the effective profit rate on the instrument. 
 
In the context of IBOR reform, the Company’s assessment of whether a change to a financial liability is substantial, is 
made after applying the practical expedient introduced by IBOR reform Phase 2. Under the Phase 2 Interest Rate 
Benchmark Reform amendments to IFRS 9, changes to the basis for determining contractual cash flows as a direct result 
of interest rate benchmark reform are treated as changes to a floating interest rate to that instrument, provided that the 
transition from the IBOR benchmark rate to the alternative RFR takes place on an economically equivalent basis.  
 
Where the instrument is measured at amortized cost, this results in a change in the instrument’s effective interest rate, 
with no change in the amortized cost value of the instrument. If the change to the instrument does not meet these 
criteria, the Company applies judgement to assess whether the changes are substantial and if they are, the financial 
instrument is derecognized and a new financial instrument is recognized. If the changes are not substantial, the Company 
adjusts the gross carrying amount of the financial instrument by the present value of the changes not covered by the 
practical expedient, discounted using the revised effective interest rate 

 
(v) Offsetting 

 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and 
only when, the Company has a legal right to set off the amounts and intend either to settle on a net basis, or to realise 
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 

(vi) Fair value measurement 
 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date in the principal, or in its absence, the most advantageous market 
to which the Company has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk. When 
available, the Company measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an active market for that 
instrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency 
and volume to provide pricing information on an on-going basis. 
 
If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Company uses the valuation techniques that maximize the use 
of relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique incorporates 
all the factors that market participants would take into account in pricing a transaction. The best evidence of the fair 
value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally the transaction price – i.e. the fair value of the 
consideration given or received. If the Company determines that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the 
transaction price and the fair value is evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or 
liability nor based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, the financial instrument is 
initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference between the fair value at initial recognition and the 
transaction price. Subsequently, that difference is recognised in the statement of profit or loss on an appropriate basis 
over the life of the instrument but no later than when the valuation is supported wholly by observable market data or 
the transaction is closed out. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 

3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(b) Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
 

(vi) Fair value measurement (continued) 
 

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, the Company measures assets and long 
positions at a bid price and liabilities and short positions at an ask price. 

 
Portfolios of financial assets and financial liabilities that are exposed to market risk and credit risk that are managed by 
the Company on the basis of the net exposure to either market or credit risk, are measured on the basis of a price that 
would be received to sell a net long position or paid to transfer a net short position for a particular risk exposure. These 
portfolio level adjustments are allocated to the individual assets and liabilities on the basis of the relative risk adjustment 
of each of the individual instruments in the portfolio.  
The fair value of investments in mutual funds, private equity funds or similar investment vehicles are based on the last 
net asset value published by the fund manager. For other investments, a reasonable estimate of the fair value is 
determined by reference to the price of recent market transactions involving similar investments, are based on the 
expected discounted cash flows. 
 
The fair value of a demand deposit is not less than the amount payable on demand, discounted from the first date on 
which the amount could be required to be paid.  
 
The Company recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period during 
which the change has occurred. 

 
(vii)   Impairment 

 
The Company recognises loss allowances for ECL on the following financial instruments that are not measured at FVTPL: 

• Cash and balances with Bank; 
• Islamic financing assets; 
• Due from bank and financial institutions;  
• Islamic financing commitments issued; and 
• Other Assets. 

 
No impairment loss is recognised on equity investments. 
 
The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the following, for which they are 
measured as 12-month ECL: 
 

• debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and 
• other financial instruments (other than lease receivables) on which credit risk has not increased significantly 

since their initial recognition (see Note 20(a)). 
 

 The Company considers the above financial instruments to have low credit risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent to 
the globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’. 

 
Credit loss allowances are measured using a three-stage approach based on the extent of credit deterioration since 
origination: 

• Stage 1 – Where there has not been a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) since initial recognition of a 
financial instrument, an amount equal to 12 months expected credit loss is recorded. The expected credit loss 
is computed using a probability of default occurring over the next 12 months. For those instruments with a 
remaining maturity of less than 12 months, a probability of default corresponding to remaining term to 
maturity is used. 

• Stage 2 – When a financial instrument experiences a SICR subsequent to origination but is not considered to 
be impaired, it is included in Stage 2. This requires the computation of expected credit loss based on the 
probability of default over the remaining estimated life of the financial instrument. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 

3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(b) Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
 

(vii) Impairment (continued) 
 

• Stage 3 – Financial instruments that are considered to be impaired are included in this stage. Similar to Stage 
2, the allowance for credit losses captures the lifetime expected credit losses. 

 
The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are:  

• Probability of default (PD);  
• Loss given default (LGD);  
• Exposure at default (EAD)  

 
These parameters are generally derived from statistical models and other historical data. They are adjusted to reflect 
forward-looking information. Additionally, the company has elaborate review process to adjust ECL for factors not 
available in the model. 
 
Details of these statistical parameters/inputs are as follows: 
 

• PD – The probability of default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon.  
• EAD – The exposure at default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account 

expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date  
• LGD – The loss given default is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a given time. 

It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect 
to receive, including from the realization of any collateral. It is usually expressed as a percentage of the EAD.  
 

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as follows: 
 

• financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. 
the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows 
that the Company expects to receive); 

• financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows; 

• undrawn finance commitments: as the present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows that 
are due to the Company if the commitment is drawn down and the cash flows that the Company expects to 
receive; and 

• financial guarantee contracts: the expected payments to reimburse the holder less any amounts that the 
Company expects to recover. 

 
Restructured financial assets 
 
If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an existing financial asset is replaced with a new one due 
to financial difficulties of the borrower, then an assessment is made of whether the financial asset should be 
derecognised and ECL are measured as follows. 
 

• If the expected restructuring will not result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected cash flows 
arising from the modified financial asset are included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing asset. 
If the expected restructuring will result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected fair value of 
the new asset is treated as the final cash flow from the existing financial asset at the time of its derecognition. 
 

• This amount is included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing financial asset that are discounted 
from the expected date of derecognition to the reporting date using the original effective profit rate of the 
existing financial asset. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 

3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(b) Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
 
(vii) Impairment (continued) 

Credit-impaired financial assets 
 
At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt financial assets 
carried at FVOCI, and finance lease receivables are credit‑impaired (referred to as ‘Stage 3 financial assets’). A financial 
asset is ‘credit‑impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of 
the financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable 
data: 

• significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;  
• a breach of contract such as a default or past due event; 
• the restructuring of a Islamic financing facility by the Company on terms that the Company would not consider 

otherwise; 
• it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or 
• the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties. 

 
Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position 
 
Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as follows: 

• financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the assets; 
• finance commitments and financial guarantee contracts: generally, as a provision; and 
• debt instruments measured at FVOCI: no loss allowance is recognised in the statement of financial position 

because the carrying amount of these assets is their fair value. However, the loss allowance is disclosed and is 
recognised in the fair value reserve. 

 
Write-off 
 
Islamic financing facilities and debt securities are written off (either partially or in full) when there is no reasonable 
expectation of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. This is generally the case when the Company 
determines that the borrower does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to 
repay the amounts subject to the write-off. This assessment is carried out at the individual asset level. 
 
Recoveries of amounts previously written off are included in net impairment charge in the statement of profit or loss. 
Financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Company’s 
procedures for recovery of amounts due. 
 
Central Bank of UAE (“CBUAE”) provision requirements 
 
 As per the CBUAE notice no. CBUAE/BSD/2018/458 dated 30 April 2018, clause 6.4, if the specific provision and 
general/collective provision cumulatively is higher than the impairment allowance computed under IFRS 9, the 
differential should be transferred to an “Impairment Reserve” as an appropriation from the Retained earnings. This 
impairment reserve should be split to that which relates to difference in specific provision and general/collective 
provision. The Impairment reserve will not be available for payment of dividend. 

 
(c) Cash and cash equivalents 

 
For the purpose of statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash, balances with central banks and 
due from banks and financial institutions with original maturities of less than three months, which are subject to 
insignificant risk of changes in fair value, and are used by the Company in the management of its short-term 
commitments. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents are non-derivative financial assets stated at amortised cost in the statement of financial 
position. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(d) Due from banks and financial institutions 
 
These are non-derivative financial assets that are stated at amortised cost, less any allowance for impairment. 
 

(e) Investments at fair value through profit or loss 
 
 These are securities that the Company acquire principally for the purpose of selling in the near term or holding as a part 

of portfolio that is managed together for short-term profit or position taking. These assets are initially recognised and 
subsequently measured at fair value in the statement of financial position. All changes in fair values are recognised as 
part of profit or loss. 

 
(f) Islamic financing  
 

The Company engages in Sharia’a compliant Islamic banking activities through various Islamic instruments such as Ijara, 
Murabaha, Mudaraba and Wakala.  
 
Definitions 
 
Ijara 
 
Ijara consists of Ijara muntahia bitamleek. Ijara financing is an agreement whereby the Company’s (lessor) leases or 
constructs an asset based on the customer’s (lessee) request and promise to lease the assets for a specific period against 
certain rent instalments. Ijara could end in transferring the ownership of the asset to the lessee at the end of the lease 
period. Also, the Company’s transfers substantially all the risks and rewards related to the ownership of the leased asset 
to the lessee. Ijara income is recognised on an effective profit rate basis over the lease term. 
 
Murabaha 
 
A sale contract whereby the Company sells to a customer commodities and other assets at an agreed upon profit mark 
up on cost. The Company purchases the assets based on a promise received from customer to buy the item purchased 
according to specific terms and conditions. Profit from Murabaha is quantifiable at the commencement of the 
transaction. Such income is recognised as it accrues over the period of the contract on effective profit rate method on 
the balance outstanding. 

 
Wakala 
 
An agreement between the Company and customer whereby one party (Rab Al Mal) provides a certain sum of money to 
an agent (Wakil), who invests it according to specific conditions in return for a certain fee (a lump sum of money or a 
percentage of the amount invested). The agent is obliged to guarantee the invested amount in case of default, negligence 
or violation of any of the terms and conditions of the Wakala. The Company may be Wakil or Rab Al Mal depending on 
the nature of the transaction. Estimated income from Wakala is recognised on the effective profit rate basis over the 
period, adjusted by actual income when received. Losses are accounted for when incurred. 

 
Revenue recognition  
 
Ijara  
 
Income from Ijara is recognised on a declining-value basis, until such time a reasonable doubt exists with regard to its 
collectability. 
 
Murabaha  
 
Income from Murabaha is recognised on a declining-value basis, until such time a reasonable doubt exists with regard to 
its collectability. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 

3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(f) Islamic financing (continued) 
 

Wakala 
 
Estimated income from Wakala is recognised on an accrual basis over the period, adjusted by actual income when 
received. Losses are accounted for on the date of declaration by the agent. 

 
(g) Property and equipment 

 
(i) Recognition and measurement 

  
All items of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any, 
except for land, which is measured at fair value.  Capital projects in progress are initially recorded at cost and regularly 
tested for impairment and upon completion are transferred to the appropriate category of property and equipment and 
thereafter depreciated. Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. 
Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment. 
 
Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from 
disposal with the carrying amount of property and equipment and are recognised net within other operating income in 
the statement of profit or loss. 

 
Subsequent expenditures are only capitalised when it is probable that the future economic benefits of such expenditures 
will flow to the Company. On-going expenses are charged to statement of profit or loss as incurred. If significant parts of 
an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, then they are accounted for as separate items (major 
components) of property and equipment. 
 
Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property and equipment is recognised within other income in profit or loss. 

 
 

(ii) Depreciation 
 

Depreciation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of all 
property and equipment. Freehold land and capital work in progress are not depreciated. 
 
The estimated useful lives of assets for the current and comparative period are as follows: 
 

Office furniture and equipment 5 to 10 years 
Fit-out leased premises 3 to 10 years 
Safes 10 years 
Computer systems and equipment 3 to 7 years 
Vehicles 3 years 

 
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at every reporting date. 

 
(iii) Capital work in progress 

 
Capital work in progress assets are assets in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes, 
are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes all direct cost attributable to design and 
construction of the property capitalised in accordance with Company’s accounting policy. When the assets are ready for 
the intended use, the capital work in progress is transferred to the appropriate property and equipment category and is 
depreciated in accordance with the Company’s policies. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 

3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
 

(h)     Profit income and expense 
 

Ijara income is recognised on a time-proportion basis over the lease term. 
 
Murabaha income is recognised on a time apportioned basis over the period of the contract based on the principal 
amounts outstanding.  
 

(i) Depositors’ share of profit 
 

Depositors’ share of profit is amount accrued as expense on the funds accepted from banks and customers in the form 
of wakala and mudaraba deposits and recognised as expenses in the statement of profit or loss. The amounts are 
calculated in accordance with agreed terms and conditions of the wakala deposits and Sharia’a principles. 
 

(j) Fee and commission income 
 
The Company earns fee and commission income from a diverse range of services provided to its customers. The basis of 
accounting treatment of fees and commission depends on the purposes for which the fees are collected and accordingly 
the revenue is recognised in statement of profit or loss. Fee and commission income is accounted for as follows: 

 
• income earned from the provision of services is recognised as revenue as the services are provided;  
• income earned on the execution of a significant act is recognised as revenue when the act is completed;   
• income which forms an integral part of the effective profit rate of a financial instrument is recognised as an 

adjustment to the effective profit rate and recorded in “profit income”. 
 
A contract with a customer that results in a recognised financial instrument in the Company’s financial statements may 
be partially in the scope of IFRS 9 and partially in the scope of IFRS 15. If this is the case, then the Company first applies 
IFRS 9 to separate and measure the part of the contract that is in the scope of IFRS 9 and then applies IFRS 15 to the 
residual. 
 
Fee and commission expense relates mainly to transaction and service fees which are expensed as the services are 
received. 
 

(k) Zakat 
 
Zakat is the responsibility of shareholders and is payable by them. 

 
(l) Net gain/loss on investments and derivatives 

 
Net gain on investments and derivatives comprises realised and unrealised gains or losses on investments at fair value 
through profit or loss and derivatives, realised gains or losses on non-trading investments and dividend income. Net gain 
on investment at fair value through profit or loss includes changes in the fair value of financial assets and financial 
liabilities designated at fair value.  
 
Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of FVOCI assets are recognised in the statement of other comprehensive 
income and recorded in fair value reserve with the exception of ECL, profit calculated using the effective profit rate 
method and foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary assets which are recognised directly in the statement of 
profit or loss. Where the investment is sold or realised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity under 
fair value reserve is reclassified to the statement of profit or loss in case of debt instruments.  
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 

3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
 

(m) Derivative financial instruments and hedging  
 

Derivatives are initially recognised, and subsequently measured at fair value with transaction costs taken directly to the 
statement of profit or loss. The fair value of a derivative is the equivalent of the unrealised gain or loss from marking to 
market the derivative or using valuation techniques, mainly discounted cash flow models.  
 

The method of recognising the resulting fair value gains or losses depends on whether the derivative is held for trading, 
or is designated as a hedging instrument and, if so, the nature of the risk being hedged. All gains or losses from changes 
in fair value of derivatives held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit or loss. When derivatives are 
designated as hedges, the Company classifies them as either: (i) fair value hedges which hedge the exposure to changes 
in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability; (ii) cash flow hedges which hedge exposure to variability in cash flows 
that is either attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast 
transaction; (iii) hedge of net investment which are accounted similarly to a cash flow hedge. Hedge accounting is applied 
to derivatives designated as hedging instruments in a fair value or cash flow, provided the criteria are met. 
 
Embedded derivatives 

 
Derivatives may be embedded in another contractual arrangement (a host contract). The Company accounts for an 
embedded derivative separately from the host contract when: 
• the host contract is not an asset in the scope of IFRS 9; 
• the host contract is not itself carried at FVTPL; 
• the terms of the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative if they were contained in a separate 

contract; and 
• the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to the economic 

characteristics and risks of the host contract. 
 

Separated embedded derivatives are measured at fair value, with all changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss 
unless they form part of a qualifying cash flow or net investment hedging relationship. Separated embedded derivatives 
are presented in the statement of financial position together with the host contract. 

 
Hedge accounting  
 
It is the Company’s policy to document, at the inception of a hedge, the relationship between hedging instruments and 
hedged items, as well as risk management objective and strategy. The policy also requires documentation of the 
assessment, at inception and on an on-going basis, of the effectiveness of the hedge. 
 
The Company makes an assessment, both at the inception of the hedge relationship as well as on an on-going basis, as 
to whether the hedging instrument(s) is (are) expected to be highly effective in offsetting the changes in the fair value or 
cash flows of the respective hedged item(s) during the period for which the hedge is designated, and whether the actual 
results of each hedge are within a range of 80‑125 percent. The Company makes an assessment for a cash flow hedge of 
a forecast transaction, as to whether the forecasted transaction is highly probable to occur and presents an exposure to 
variations in cash flows that could ultimately affect profit or loss.  
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 

3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(n) Foreign currency 
 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currencies of the company at spot 
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the 
reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency at the spot exchange rates at the reporting date. The foreign 
currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in the functional currency at the 
beginning of the period, adjusted for effective profit and payments during the period  

 
Foreign currency differences arising on transaction are generally recognised in profit or loss. However, foreign currency 
differences arising from the transaction arising from the translation of the following item are recognised in OCI. 

• available for sale equity instruments / FVOCI equity instruments 
• qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent that the hedge is effective.   

 
(o) Provisions 

 
A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation that 
can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. 
Where the effect of time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash 
flows, at a pre-tax rate, that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, 
the risks specific to the liability. 
 

(p) Employees’ end of service benefit 
 

The Company provides end of service benefits for its employees. The entitlement to these benefits is based upon the 
employees’ length of service and completion of a minimum service period. The expected costs of these benefits are 
accrued over the period of employment. 
 
With respect to its UAE national employees, the Company makes contributions to the relevant government pension 
scheme calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salaries. The Company’s obligations are limited to these 
contributions, which are expensed when due. 
 
Defined contribution plan 
 
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a 
separate entity or to a government organisation and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. 
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in 
statement of profit or loss in the periods during which services are rendered by employees. 
 
Pension and national insurance contributions for eligible employees are made by the Company to Pensions and Benefits 
Fund in accordance with the applicable laws of country where such contributions are made. 

 
Defined benefit plan 
 
A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. The liability recognised 
in the statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit gratuity plans is the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period together with adjustments for unrecognised past-service costs. The 
defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The 
present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using 
profit rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and 
that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension obligation. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(q) Employees’ end of service benefit (continued) 
 

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses, the return on plan assets 
(excluding profit) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding profit), are recognised immediately in OCI. Net 
expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognised in Staff cost in statement of profit or loss. When the benefits 
of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in benefit that relates to past service or the gain 
or loss on curtailment is recognised immediately to profit or loss. The Company recognises gains and losses on the 
settlement of a defined benefit plan when the settlement occurs. 
 

(r) Directors’ remuneration 
 
Pursuant to Article 118 of the Commercial Companies Law No. 2 of 2015 and in accordance with the Company’s Articles 
of Association, Directors’ shall be entitled for remuneration which shall not exceed 10% of the net profits after deducting 
depreciation and reserves.  
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
4 Cash and balances with bank 
 

 2021 
AED’000 

2020 
AED’000 

   
Current account balances held with parent 291,277 310,275 

 ------------------------------------ ------------------------------------ 

 291,277 310,275 

 =============== ============== 
 
5 Investments at fair value through profit or loss 
 

 2021 
AED’000 

2020 
AED’000 

   
Investments in Sukuk 67,940 70,970 
 --------------------------------- --------------------------------- 
 67,940 70,970 
 ============== ========== 

 
 
6 Due from banks and financial institutions 

 
 2021 2020 
 AED’000 AED’000 
   
Wakala placements - 65,000 
 -------------------------------- -------------------------------- 
 - 65,000 
 ================= ================= 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
  
7 Islamic financing 

 

 2021 
AED’000 

2020 
AED’000 

   
Murabaha financing   56,488 89,010 
Ijara financing 54,580 65,432 
Less: profit suspended (3,406) (3,786) 
Less: expected credit losses (7,613) (11,905) 
 ----------------------------------- ----------------------------------- 
Net Islamic financing 100,049 138,751 
   =============== =============== 

 
 
 2021 

AED’000 
2020 

AED’000 
By counterparty: 
   

Personal / retail sector 111,068 154,442 
 ----------------------------------- ----------------------------------- 
Gross Islamic financing 111,068 154,442 
 =============== =============== 

 
 2021 

AED’000 
2020 

AED’000 
By product:   
Real estate 54,580 65,432 
Personal financing 14,429 26,330 
Vehicle financing 2,355 6,109 
Others 39,704 56,571 
 ----------------------------------- ----------------------------------- 
Gross Islamic financing 111,068 154,442 
 =============== =============== 

 
 

The movement in the allowance for expected credit losses for Islamic financing facilities during the year is shown below: 
 

 2021 
AED’000 

2020 
AED’000 

   
Beginning of the year 11,905 10,019 
Net provision charge for the year 830 2,395 
Amounts written off and other adjustments (5,122) (509) 
 --------------------------------- --------------------------------- 
End of the year 7,613 11,905 
   =============== =============== 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)  
  
7 Islamic financing (continued) 

 2021 
AED’000 

2020 
AED’000 

Gross Ijara Financing   
Less than one year  18,093   18,937  
Between one and five year  26,627   38,507  
More than five year  28,293   28,086  
 ------------------- ------------------- 
 73,013 85,530 
Unearned Profit Income  (18,433) (20,098) 

 ------------------- ------------------- 
Net Ijara Financing  54,580 65,432 
 ========= ========= 

 

 2021 
AED’000 

2020 
AED’000 

Net Ijara Financing   
Less than one year  13,473  30,438  
Between one and five year  20,919      3,826  
More than five year  20,188  31,168  
 ------------------- ------------------- 
 54,580 65,432 
 ========= ========= 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
8 Property and equipment 
 

 
 Computer Furniture, 

equipment,  
 

Fit out leased  systems 
and 

fixtures, safes 
and  

 premises  equipment vehicles Total 
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
     
Cost     
At 1 January 2020  12,870   1,188   7,034   21,092  
Additions - 16 35 51 
Disposals, transfers and 
   write offs - - (118) (118) 

 ---------------------------- ----------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------------- 
At 31 December 2020 12,870 1,204 6,951 21,025 
 ---------------------------- ----------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------------- 
     
Additions  110   -    1,447   1,557  

 Write offs (272) (77) (192) (541) 

 ------------------------ --------------------- --------------------- ------------------------- 
At 31 December 2021  12,708   1,127   8,206   22,041  
 ============ ========== ========== ============ 
     
Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses     

     
At 1 January 2020  11,500   1,142   6,432   19,074  
Charge for the year  378   43   191   612  
Disposals, transfers and 
   write offs 

 -    -    (118)  (118) 

 -------------------------- ---------------------- ----------------------- -------------------------- 
At 31 December 2020  11,878   1,185   6,505   19,568  
 -------------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -------------------------- 
     
Charge for the year  361   8  709  1,078  
Disposals, transfers and 
   write offs (272) (77) (192) (541) 

 -------------------- -------------------- ------------------- ----------------------- 
At 31 December 2021  11,967   1,116   7,022   20,105  
 ========== ========== ========= =========== 
     
Carrying amounts     
     
At 31 December 2020  992   19   446   1,457  
 ============ ========== ========= ============ 
At 31 December 2021  741   11   1,184   1,936  
 ============ ========== ========= ============ 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)  
 
9 Other assets 

 
 2021 

AED’000 
2020 

AED’000 
   
Profit receivable  7,056 5,840 
Prepayments 1,287 1,613 
Due from Parent 168,128 142,630 
Other receivables 1,096 1,112 
 ------------------------------- ------------------------------- 
 177,567 151,195 
 ================ ============== 

 
Due from Parent is Management Fee due against services provided to Parent’s Islamic Banking Division as per the 
agreement with FAB Islamic Finance PVT. JSC. to manage personal banking Islamic Portfolio. 
 
The Company does not perceive any significant credit risk on profit receivable and other receivables. 
 
 

 
10 Other liabilities 
 

 2021 2020 
 AED’000 AED’000 
   
Provision employees’ end of service benefits 4,498 3,969 
Due to parent - 3,087 
Provision for expenses  13,092 15,155 
Derivatives financial instruments (refer note 18) 699 3,002 
Profit Payable 697 697 
Other Liabilities  - 227 
 -------------------------------- -------------------------------- 
 18,986 26,137 
 ===================== ============ 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
10 Other liabilities (continued) 
  

Employees’ end of service benefits 
 
Defined benefit obligations 
The Company provides for end of service benefits for its eligible employees. An actuarial valuation has been carried out as at 
31 December 2021 to ascertain present value of the defined benefit obligation. A registered actuary in the UAE was appointed 
to evaluate the same. The present value of the defined benefit obligation, and the related current and past service cost, were 
measured using the Projected Unit Credit Method. 
 
The following key assumptions (weighted average rates) were used to value the liabilities: 
 
 

 2021 2020 
Discount rate 2.20% per annum 1.70% per annum 

 ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Salary increase rate 2.00% per annum 2.00% per annum 

 ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 
Demographic assumptions for mortality, withdrawal and retirement were used in valuing the liabilities and benefits under the 
plan. Because of the nature of the benefit, which is a lump sum payable on exit due to any cause, a combined single decrement 
rate has been used. 
 
A shift in the in the discount rate assumption by +/- 50 basis points would impact the liability by AED 92 thousand and AED 87 
thousand respectively. Similarly, a shift in the salary increment assumption by +/- 50 basis points would impact the liability by 
AED 91 thousand and AED 88 thousand respectively. 
 
The movement in the employees’ end of service obligation was as follows: 
 

 2021 2020 
 AED’000 AED’000 
   
Balance at 1 January 3,969 8,843 
Net charge during the year 606 755 
Remeasurement gains in OCI - (2,142) 
Employees transferred to Parent company - (3,087) 
Paid during the year and other adjustments  (77) (400) 
 ---------------------- ---------------------- 
Balance at 31 December 4,498 3,969 
 =============== ================= 

 
Defined contribution plan 
The Company pays contributions for its eligible employees which are treated as defined contribution plans. The charge for the 
year in respect of these contributions is AED 388 thousand (2020: AED 755 thousand).  
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
11 Capital and reserves 

 
Share Capital 

 2021 2020 
Authorized and paid up share capital AED’000 AED’000 
 
5,000,000 ordinary shares of AED 100 each 500,000 500,000 

 -------------------------------- -------------------------------- 
 500,000 500,000 
 --------------------------------- -------------------------------- 

 
Statutory and special reserves  
In accordance with the Company's Articles of Association and the requirements of the Union Law No. (10) of 1980, a 
minimum of 10% of the annual net profit should be transferred to both statutory and special reserve until each of these 
reserves equal to 50% of the paid-up share capital. The Statutory and special reserve are not available for distribution 
to the shareholders. 
 
Dividends 
 
The following dividends were paid by the Company during the year ended 31 December: 
 

 2021 2020 
 AED’000 AED’000 
   
Dividend paid during the year to Parent 100,000 - 
 =============== ================ 

 
 

Other reserves  
 

IFRS 9 reserve 
–specific 

IFRS 9 reserve 
– collective 

 
 

Total 
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
    
As at 1 January 2021 3,866 1,801 5,667 
 --------------------------- ------------------------- --------------------------- 
IFRS 9 reserve movement 528 - 528 
 --------------------------- ------------------------- --------------------------- 
As at 31 December 2021 4,394 1,801 6,195 
 =========== ========== =========== 

 
 

IFRS 9 reserve 
–specific 

IFRS 9 reserve 
– collective 

 
 

Total 
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
    
As at 1 January 2020 777 1,801 2,578 
 --------------------------- ------------------------- --------------------------- 
IFRS 9 reserve movement 3,089 - 3,089 
 --------------------------- ------------------------- --------------------------- 
As at 31 December 2020 3,866 1,801 5,667 
 =========== ========== =========== 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
12 Profit income 

 2021 2020 
 AED’000 AED’000 
Profit from:   
Banks and financial institutions 204 973 
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 3,563 3,563 
Islamic financing 8,849 12,898 
Profit rate swap income 1,249 1,756 
 --------------------------------- ------------------------------- 
 13,865 19,190 
 ============== ============ 

13 Depositors’ share of profit 
 2021 2020 
 AED’000 AED’000 
Profit to:   
Profit rate swap expense 3,563 3,563 
 ---------------------------- ------------------------------- 
 3,563 3,563 
 ============ ============ 

 
Investments in Sukuk held by the company are based on a fixed profit rate.  In order to take benefit from floating profit rate, 
the company had entered into a derivative contract (profit rate swaps) with Parent (Counterparty) to pay at fixed profit rate on 
the underlying instruments and receive Income based on floating profit rate from Parent.  

 
14 Management Fee Income  

 
 2021 2020 
 AED’000 AED’000 
   
Management Fee Income  56,855 64,318 
 ----------------------- ----------------------- 

56,855 64,318 
 ========== ========== 

 
 Management Fee is against services provided to Parent’s Islamic Banking Division as per the agreement with FAB Islamic 

Finance PVT. JSC. to manage personal banking Islamic Portfolio of the Parent. 
 
15 General, administration and other operating expenses 

 
 2021 2020 
 AED’000 AED’000 
   
Staff costs 40,155 46,866 
IT expense 9,169 8,844 
Depreciation (note 8) 1,078 612 
Rent expense 6,077 6,423 
Other general and administration expenses 1,802 3,051 
 ---------------------------- ---------------------------- 
 58,281 65,796 
 ============ ============ 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
16 Net impairment charge 

 2021 2020 
 AED’000 AED’000 
Impairment charge on    
Islamic financing assets 830 2,395 
other assets 1 15 
Recoveries (1,646) (2,253) 
Write-off of impaired financial assets 427 820 

 ---------------------------- ---------------------------- 
 (388)   977 
 ============ ============ 

17 Cash and cash equivalents 
 

 2021 
AED’000 

2020 
AED’000 

    
Cash and balances with Banks 291,277 310,275 
 ----------------------------------- ----------------------------------- 
 291,277 310,275 
 =============== =============== 

 
Cash and cash equivalents included in the statement of cash flows comprise amounts with original contractual maturities 
of less than three months from the transaction date. 

 
18 Derivative financial instruments 

 
In the ordinary course of business the Company enters into various types of transactions that involve derivative financial 
instruments. Derivatives are financial instruments that derive their value from the price of underlying items such as 
Sukuk derivatives enable users to increase, reduce or alter exposure to credit or market risks. Derivative financial 
instruments include swaps. These transactions are primarily entered with parent. 
 
Swaps  
Profit rate swaps are commitments to exchange one set of cash flows for another. Swaps result in an economic exchange 
of profit rates (for example, fixed rate for floating rate) or a combination of all these. No exchange of principal takes 
place, except for certain cross currency swaps. The Company’s credit risk represents the potential loss if counterparties 
fail to fulfil their obligation. This risk is monitored on an ongoing basis with reference to the current fair value, notional 
amount of the contracts and the liquidity of the market. To control the level of credit risk taken, the Company assesses 
counterparties using the same techniques as for its lending activities. 
 
Derivatives are measured at fair value by reference to published price quotations in an active market. Where there is no 
active market for an instrument, fair value is derived from prices for the derivative’s components using appropriate 
pricing or valuation models like counterparty prices or valuation techniques such as discounted cash flows, market prices, 
yield curves and other reference market data. The table below shows the fair values of derivative financial instruments, 
which are equivalent to their fair values, together with the notional amounts analyzed by the term to maturity. The 
notional amount is the amount of a derivative’s underlying, reference rate or index and is the basis upon which changes 
in the value of derivatives are measured. The notional amounts indicate the volume of transactions outstanding at year 
end and are neither indicative of the market risk nor credit risk. 
 
The positive / negative fair value in respect of derivatives represents the gain/loss respectively, arising on fair valuation 
of the trading and hedging instrument. These amounts are not indicative of any current or future losses, as a similar 
positive / negative amount has been adjusted to the carrying value of the hedged investments. 

 
 2021 2020  
 AED’000 AED’000  
Positive fair value of profit rate swaps 240 251  
Negative fair value of profit rate swaps 699 3,002  
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
19 Related parties 

 
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence 
over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. Related parties comprise shareholders, directors and 
key management personnel of the Company. Key management personnel comprise of Chief Executive Officer of the 
Company who is involved in the strategic planning and decision making of the Company. The terms of these transactions 
are approved by the Company’s management and are made on terms agreed by the Board of Directors or management. 
 
Parent and ultimate controlling party 
First Abu Dhabi Bank PJSC holds 99.99% of the issued and fully paid up share capital of the Company.  

 
Significant transactions and balances with related parties 
The significant transactions and balances with related parties consist of balances held with Parent (First Abu Dhabi Bank 
P.J.S.C) which are included in these financial statements as follows: 
 
Balances with related parties at the reporting date are shown below: 
 
 

 2021 2020 
 AED’000 AED’000 
   
Cash and balances with bank 291,277 310,275 
Due from bank - 65,000 
Management fees receivable 168,128 147,488 
Receivable on floating rate derivative  240 251 
Payable on floating rate derivative 697 697 
Receivable on Wakala placements - 56 
Payable to the Parent 4,498 9,424 
Negative fair value profit rate swaps 699 3,002 
Due to Parent - 3,086 

 
Due from Banks consists of profit bearing instruments 
 
Transactions carried out during the year ended with related parties are shown below: 
 

 2021 2020 
 AED’000 AED’000 
Income from Murabaha placements 204 973 
Management Fee Income 56,855 64,318 
Profit rate swaps income 1,249 1,756 
Profit rate swaps expense (3,563) (3,563) 
Gain on profit rate swaps 2,304 53 

 
Management Fee income is management and administrative fees income which relates to services provided to the 
Parent’s Islamic Banking Division (ISD) as per the agreement between the Company and the Parent. 

 
 

 2021 2020 
 AED’000 AED’000 
Key Management Compensation   
Short term employment benefits 3,148 3,187 
Post-employment benefits 305 313 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
20 Financial risk management 
 

Introduction and overview 
 
Risk management framework 
 
The primary objective of the Company is to manage risk and provide returns to the shareholders in line with the accepted 
risk profile. In the course of doing its regular business activities, the Company gets exposed to multiple risks notably 
credit risk, market risk, liquidity and funding risk, profit rate risk, operational risk and other risks like compliance risk, 
strategic risk, reputation risk, environment social governance (ESG) risk ,information security risk and business 
continuity. A well-established risk governance and ownership structure ensures oversight and accountability of the 
effective management of risk at the Company. The Risk management tone is set right at the top from the Board of 
Directors (“BOD”) and gets implemented through a well-defined risk management structure and framework. 

 
Composition of Board  
 
The Board of Directors (“BOD”) is responsible for the overall direction, supervision and control of the Company. The day-
to-day management of the Company is conducted by the BOD committees, and the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”). The 
BOD has overall responsibility for the Company including approving and overseeing the implementation of its strategic 
objectives, risk strategy, corporate governance and corporate values within the agreed framework in accordance with 
relevant statutory and regulatory structures.  

 
Corporate Governance Framework 
 
The Company has a comprehensive corporate governance framework that puts in place rules, processes and policies 
through which BOD and Senior Management manages the Company. The BOD drives the implementation of the 
corporate governance standards and in accordance with its charter had oversight responsibility for the Company’s 
corporate governance framework. The Company’s corporate governance standards bind its signatories to the highest 
standards of professionalism and due diligence in the performance of their duties. The Parent’ Chief Risk Officer (“GCRO”) 
is the custodian of the Corporate Framework document.  
 
Risk Management Structure 
 
The Parent BOD approves risk management plans for the Company. Under authority delegated by the BOD, the Board 
Risk and Compliance Committee (“BRCC”) through its separately convened risk management meetings formulates high-
level enterprise risk management policy, exercises delegated risk authorities and oversees the implementation of risk 
management framework and controls. The Parent CRO functionally reports to this committee. 
 
Board Level Committees within the Parent 
 
Board Management Committee (“BMC”) 
 
BMC comprises three members of the BOD and the CEO. BMC oversees execution of the Parent’s business plan as per 
the strategy approved by the Board and oversees and reviews material aspects of the business of the Parent. The 
Committee meets quarterly or more frequently as deemed necessary. The composition, guiding principles and detailed 
roles and responsibilities are covered in the BMC charter. 
 
Board Risk and Compliance Committee (“BRCC”) 
 
The BRCC provides oversight and advice to the Parent Board in relation to current and potential future risk and 
compliance exposures of the FAB Group. It also considers and helps direct future risk strategy, including determination 
of risk appetite and tolerance as well as promote a risk and compliance awareness culture among the Group. The 
Committee meets quarterly or more frequently as deemed necessary. The composition, guiding principles and detailed 
roles and responsibilities are covered in the BRCC’s charter. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
20 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

Risk management framework (continued) 
 

Board Level Committees within the Parent (continued) 
 

Board Audit Committee (“BAC”) 
 
BAC comprises three members of the BOD and the GCEO. BAC ensures oversight of the effectiveness of the internal 
control systems and the quality and integrity of financial statements and financial reporting. In addition, it reviews, 
approves and oversees the internal and external audit programs and ensures coordination between internal and external 
auditors. The Parent Chief Audit Officer (“GCAO”) provides reports to the Committee on Internal controls. The 
Committee meets quarterly or more frequently as deemed necessary. The composition, guiding principles and detailed 
roles and responsibilities are covered in the Board Audit Committee’s charter. 

 
Management Level Committees within the Parent 

 
Group Risk Committee (“GRC”):  
Oversees the Group-wide risk strategy and exposures to enable integrated risk management in an effective manner. 
Defines, develops and periodically monitors the Parent’s risk appetite along with its related methodology, parameters, 
targets, and tolerances taking into account the Bank’s strategy and business planning. The GRC will report relevant 
matters to the Group EXCO, and as appropriate the BRCC, advising and informing them as required on the Parent’s risk 
appetite and framework.  
 
Group Compliance Committee (“GCC”):  
Group Compliance Committee assists the BRCC in fulfilling its objective of overseeing the Bank’s regulatory 
responsibilities as well as ensuring the Bank’s compliance with the applicable laws and regulations issued by various 
regulatory authorities across the Group. The Committee also oversees that the relevant policies and procedures, 
including, but not limited to the Group Code of Ethics are complied with across the Group. The composition, guiding 
principles and detailed roles and responsibilities of Group Compliance Committee are covered in the Group Compliance 
Committee charter. 
 
Group Operational & Fraud Risk Committee (“GO&FRC”) 
 
GO&FRC assists the Group EXCO and the Board Risk and Compliance Committee (“BRCC”) in fulfilling the Parent’s 
Operational and Fraud Risk Management. The key responsibilities of this committee are to define guidelines to identify 
and manage Operational & Fraud risks in all new products, processes, and activities, defining scope, policy, objectives, 
assumptions, and roles / responsibilities of the Group’s Operational & Fraud Risk Management Policies. The composition, 
guiding principles and detailed roles and responsibilities of GO&FRC are covered in the GO&FRC charter. 
 
Group Technology Risk and Information Security Committee (“GTRISC”) 
 
GTRISC assists the Parent’s EXCO and the BRCC in fulfilling their objectives of overseeing, reviewing and taking decisions 
on Technology, Information Security, Data Privacy and Business Continuity Management (BCM) related risk management 
status and health, including its alignment to the risk appetite of the Parent. The composition, guiding principles and 
detailed roles and responsibilities of GTRISC are covered in the GTRISC charter. 
 
Group ESG Committee (“G-ESGC”) 
 
G-ESGC is the senior authority at management level for decision making on all ESG related matters of the Parent. The 
primary objective of the G-ESGC is to promote and oversee the ESG strategy, culture, and awareness across Parent 
Group. The composition, guiding principles and detailed roles and responsibilities of G-ESGC are covered in the G-ESGC 
charter. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
20 Financial risk management (continued) 

 
Risk management framework (continued) 

 
Parent Risk Management 
 
The Parent has a centralized Risk Management functions led by the GCRO. The Risk Management function comprises 
Enterprise Risk, ESG Risk, Credit Risk, Operational Risk, Fraud Risk and Investigations, Market and Liquidity Risk 
Management Unit, Information Security and Business Continuity Management unit and Corporate Governance 
function. 
 
Enterprise Risk Management Policy Framework  
 
FAB’s Enterprise Risk Management Policy (ERMP) framework aims to accomplish its core values and purpose of being a 
world class organization maximizing its risk adjusted returns for all stakeholders by establishing an enterprise wide risk 
management framework across FAB including local and international branches, subsidiaries, associates and foreign 
representative offices.  
 
Core objective of ERMP is to provide a reasonable degree of assurance to the BOD that the risks threatening FAB’s 
achievement of its core purpose are being identified, measured, monitored and controlled through an effective 
integrated risk management system. The ERMP framework consists of specific policy documents covering all material 
risks across FAB; which include ERM policy, Risk Appetite Policy, Corporate and Investment Banking Credit Policy, 
Personal Banking Credit Policy, IFRS 9 Impairment Policy, ESG Risk Policy and framework, Market and Liquidity Risk 
related policies, Operational Risk Management Policy, Fraud Risk Policy, Compliance Risk related policies, Information 
Security risk related policies, BCM Policy, Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (“ICAAP”) Policy, New Products 
Approval policy, Outsourcing Policy, Model Risk Management Policy, Strategic Risk Management Policy, Reputational 
Risk Management Policy, Corporate Governance Framework etc. In addition to these risk management policies, the 
Parent has also put in place detailed operational policies, procedures and programs wherever needed. 
 
The Parent manages risks using three lines of defense comprising of business units and enabling functions, control units 
and Internal Audit. Business units and enabling functions, as the first line of defense, identify and manage risk in their 
day-to-day activities by ensuring that activities are within the Group’s risk appetite and are in compliance with all relevant 
internal policies and processes. Group Credit, Group Risk and Legal and Group Compliance, as the second line of defense, 
establishes risk controls comprising of policies and processes while also providing oversight and independent challenge 
to the first line of defense. The Group Chief Risk Officer (“GCRO”) has a direct reporting line to the BRCC to ensure the 
independence of Group Risk from business. Internal audit, as the third line of defense, provides assurance to 
management and the Board of the effectiveness of risk management practices employed by the first two lines of defense. 
The Group Chief Audit Officer has a direct reporting line to the Board Audit Committee 
 

(a) Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk that a customer or counterparty to a financial asset fails to meet its contractual obligations and 
cause the Company to incur a financial loss. It arises principally from the Company’s Islamic financing assets, cash and 
balances with banks, non-trading, due from banks and financial institutions, derivative financial instruments and certain 
other assets. 
 
Management of credit risk 
 
Credit risk identification and assessment at Company is carried out through a comprehensive mechanism comprising 
three levels of defense. The first level of defense lies with the business units and is responsible for maintaining a sound 
credit quality of assets in line with the approved business strategy and credit risk appetite. The second level of defense 
is with the Parent’s Credit Unit that assesses the risk on a customer & facility level and ensures proper documentation of 
customer, facility and security documents along with Parent Risk management unit that assesses credit risk on a portfolio 
basis and maintains credit risk policies and credit risk rating models up to date. Internal Audit acts as a third level of 
defense with regular reviews of credit analysis and the risk functions to check the compliance with policies and 
procedures of the Parent. The unit also reviews the policy documents on a regular basis.  

 



     
    
  
  
 
 

 38

Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
20 Financial risk management (continued) 

 
Risk Management Framework (continued) 

 
(a) Credit risk (continued) 
 

As a part of credit risk monitoring and control framework, regular risk monitoring at both individual and portfolio levels 
is carried out along several parameters which include credit quality, provisioning levels, exposure limits across several 
dimensions, financial and operating performance, account conduct, end use of funds, adequacy of credit risk mitigants, 
adherence to financial and non-financial covenants, recovery performance, rating system performance among others. 
 
The Parent has set up a framework for credit risk mitigation as a means towards reducing credit risk in an exposure, at 
facility level, by a safety net of tangible and realizable securities including approved third-party guarantees/ insurance. 
The types of Credit Risk Mitigation (CRM) include netting agreements, collaterals, guarantees, credit derivatives and 
Stand by Letter of Credit (SBLC). The Parent ensures that all documentation used in collateralized transactions and for 
documenting on and off-balance sheet netting, guarantees, credit derivatives and collateral is binding on all parties and 
is legally enforceable in all relevant jurisdictions. The Parent also ensures that all the documents are reviewed by 
appropriate authority and have appropriate legal opinions to verify and ensure its enforceability. 
 
COVID-19 and Expected Credit Loss (ECL) 
 
On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organization ("WHO") officially declared COVID-19 a global pandemic. In light of 
the rapid spread of COVID-19 across the globe, various economies and sectors have faced significant disruptions and 
uncertainty and governments and authorities have instigated a host of measures to contain or delay the spread of the 
virus. 
 
On 27th March 2020, the IASB issued a guidance note, advising that both the assessment of Significant Increase in Credit 
risk (“SICR”) and the measurement of Expected Credit Losses (ECLs) are required to be based on reasonable and 
supportable information that is available to an entity without undue cost or effort. In assessing forecast conditions, 
consideration should be given both to the effects of COVID-19 and the significant government support measures being 
undertaken. It is difficult at this time to incorporate the specific effects of COVID-19 and government support measures 
on a reasonable and supportable basis. 
 
In line with other global regulators, the UAE Central Bank, under the Targeted Economic Support Scheme (“TESS”), has 
facilitated the provision of temporary relief from the payments of principal and/or interest / profit on outstanding 
finances for all affected private sector corporates, SMEs and individuals with specific conditions. Additionally, the 
program seeks to facilitate additional lending and liquidity capacity of Finance Companies, through the relief of existing 
capital and liquidity buffers, which have been further elaborated on in the sections below. 
 
A key element in determining the ECL is the assessment of whether a SICR has occurred or not, and hence whether a 
lifetime Probability of Default (PD) or a 12-month PD is applied. UAE government’s support measures including the 
Central Bank’s TESS program, have been considered for  SICR  assessment which include both quantitative and qualitative 
criteria and are subject to management judgment due to the rapidly-changing dynamics of COVID-19.The Parent 
continues to closely monitor the impact of COVID-19 on the Company’s portfolio.  
 
CBUAE has recently phased out the deferrals under TESS by end of 31 December 2021, however, it has extended the 
relief granted under TESS for capital, liquidity and stable funding requirements, to all banks operating in the UAE, from 
31 December 2021 to 30 June 2022. The Company, however on selective basis continues to support clients through 
deferrals in line with the relief measures announced earlier.  
 
In addition to the management of credit risk described above, the Company has undertaken preemptive measures in 
response to the COVID-19 outbreak. These include significantly reduced underwriting to companies in affected sectors, 
payment holidays on a case by case basis in the Private sector and SME segment, in line with CBUAE relief program and 
depending on their underlying credit assessment. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
20 Financial risk management (continued) 

 
Risk Management Framework (continued) 

 
(a) Credit risk 

 
COVID-19 and Expected Credit Loss (ECL) (continued) 
 
Currently, there are no deferral relief considered under TESS programme as of Dec 2021, however, CBUAE has extended 
the relief granted under TESS whereby finance companies may offer new working capital finances, bridge finances, or 
any other new financing to private sector corporates, SMEs, and individuals in the UAE under the TESS recovery program 
to facilitate provision of relief and recovery of their corresponding customers negatively affected by COVID-19 
repercussions until June 2022. Currently, the company does not have any new exposures granted under the TESS 
Recovery programme as of Dec 2021. 
 
Further, the Parent has undertaken comprehensive review of its clients which are susceptible to macroeconomic and 
accordingly have taken preemptive action identifying clients benefitting under TESS under two main categories as 
required by Central bank: 
 
Group 1: are the customers who are not expected to face substantial change in their creditworthiness beyond liquidity 
issue caused by the COVID-19 crisis. 

 
The clients in this sub segment could originally be in Stage 1 or in Stage 2, prior being subject to deferrals. These clients 
are expected to remain in their original stage as long as the pandemic has an effect on their business, unless factors 
unrelated to Covid-19 trigger a credit deterioration. These accounts are not considered to have significant deterioration 
in credit quality to trigger a stage migration and the staging maybe retained at the same level. 
 
Group 2: customers that are significantly expected to be impacted by COVID-19. 

 
Clients in this sub segment could originally be in Stage 1 or in Stage 2, prior to being subject to deferrals and includes 
borrowers for which the credit deterioration is more significant and prolonged, ranging beyond liquidity issues, with an 
extended recovery period. For customers in Group 2, there may be significant deterioration in credit risk to trigger a 
migration to stage 2. On exceptional circumstances the migration to Stage 3 would be triggered due to liquidation / 
bankruptcy caused by non-financial events or significant disruptions threatening the long-term sustainability of clients’ 
business models. 
 
The Grouping of the client is based on a combination of quantitative analysis and judgmental approach based on subject 
matter expert views within the Company. 
 
Macro economic factors 
 
The Company uses a range of macro-economic factors in ECL assessment relevant to multiple jurisdictions of operations 
which are disclosed in the subsequent notes to this section. The Company periodically reviews and updates selected 
economic series and applies judgment in determining what constitutes reasonable and forward-looking estimates.  
  
In light of the current uncertain economic environment, the Company has assessed a range of possible macro-economic 
scenarios and associated weights, and analyzed their impact. Accordingly, the Company had updated its macro-economic 
forecasts. The Company continues to assess individually significant exposures for any adverse movements due to Covid-
19. 
 
Credit quality analysis 
 
The following table sets out information about the credit quality of financial assets measured at amortised cost and 
FVOCI debt investments without taking into account collateral or other credit enhancement. Unless specifically indicated, 
for financial assets, the amounts in the table represent gross carrying amounts. For Islamic financing commitments and 
financial guarantee contracts, the amounts in the table represent the amounts committed or guaranteed, respectively. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
20 Financial risk management (continued) 

 
(a) Credit risk (continued) 

 
Credit quality analysis (continued) 
 
The Company also measures its exposure to credit risk by reference to the gross carrying amount of financial assets less amounts offset, profit suspended and impairment losses, if any. 
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the credit exposure. 

 
As of 31 December 
2021 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

 AED’000 
Exposure 

             AED’000 
Provision 

AED’000 
Exposure 

AED’000 
Provision 

AED’000 
Exposure 

AED’000 
Provision 

AED’000 
Exposure 

AED’000 
Provision 

Cash and balances 
with bank 

 291,277   -    -    -   -    -    291,277   -   

Investments at fair 
value through profit 
or loss 

 67,940   -    -    -    -    -    67,940   -   

Due from banks and 
financial institutions 

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Islamic financing1  91,467   1,671  7,124   1,791  9,071   4,151  107,662   7,613 

Other assets2  177,589   22  -    -    -    -    177,589   22 
Unfunded exposure  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   
 --------------------------------- --------------------------------- --------------------------------- --------------------------------- --------------------------------- --------------------------------- --------------------------------- --------------------------------- 
  628,273   1,693  7,124   1,791  9,071   4,151  644,468   7,635 
 ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ 

 
1The exposure represents gross islamic financing facilities.  
2On certain assets included as part of other assets, ECL is computed based on simplified approach and reported as part of stage 1.  
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
20 Financial risk management (continued) 

 
(a) Credit risk (continued) 

 
Credit quality analysis (continued) 

 
The Company also measures its exposure to credit risk by reference to the gross carrying amount of financial assets less amounts offset, profit suspended and impairment losses, if any. 
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the credit exposure. 
 
 
 

As of 31 December 
2020 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
 Exposure Provision Exposure Provision Exposure Provision Exposure Provision 

Cash and balances 
with bank 310,275 - - - - - 310,275 - 

Investments at fair 
value through profit 
or loss 

70,970 - - - - - 70,970 - 

Due from banks and 
financial institutions 65,000 - - - - - 65,000 - 

Islamic financing1 126,487 3,180 4,304 1,632 19,865 7,093 150,656 11,905 
Other assets2 151,217 21 - - - - 151,217 21 
Unfunded exposure - - - - - - - - 
 --------------------------------- --------------------------------- --------------------------------- --------------------------------- --------------------------------- --------------------------------- --------------------------------- --------------------------------- 
 723,949 3,201 4,304 1,632 19,865 7,093 748,118 11,926 
 ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ 

 
1The exposure represents gross finances and advances.  
2On certain assets included as part of other assets, ECL is computed based on simplified approach and reported as part of stage 1.  
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
20 Financial risk management (continued) 

 
(a) Credit risk (continued) 

 
Credit quality analysis (continued) 
 
The movement of gross exposure is as follows 
 
 

Islamic financing Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

     
Balance as at 1 Jan 2021 126,487 4,304 23,651 154,442 
     
Transfers:     
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (2,140) 2,140 - - 
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (881) - 881 - 
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 1,169 (1,169) - - 
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - (609) 609 - 
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - 4,686 (4,686) - 
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 - - - - 
 ---------------------------------- ---------------------------------- ---------------------------------- ---------------------------------- 
 (1,852) 5,048 (3,196)  -   
     
Net non-stage movements (16,899) (1,970) (418) (19,287) 
Net amounts written-off (16,268) (258) (7,561) (24,087) 
 ----------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------------- 
Balance as at 31 Dec 2021 91,468 7,124 12,476 111,068 
 =============== ============== ============== ============== 

 
 

 

Islamic financing Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

     
Balance as at 1 Jan 2020 220,997 4,515 19,299 244,811 
     
Transfers:     
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (2,370) 2,370 - - 
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (6,110) 0 6,110 - 
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 1,096 (1,096) 0 - 
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 0 (367) 367 - 
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 0 116 (116) - 
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 - - - - 
 ---------------------------------- ---------------------------------- ---------------------------------- ---------------------------------- 
 (7,384) 1,023 6,361  -   
     
Net non-stage movements (21,666) (1,034) (473) (23,173) 
Net amounts written-off (65,460) (200) (1,536) (67,196) 
 ----------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------------- 
Balance as at 31 Dec 2020 126,487 4,304 23,651 154,442 
 =============== ============== ============== ============== 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
20 Financial risk management (continued) 

 
(a) Credit risk (continued) 

 
Credit quality analysis (continued) 
 

 
Classification of investments as per their external ratings: 
 

 Investments at fair value through 
profit or loss  

 2021 2020 
 AED’000 AED’000 
   
AA to A 33,780 34,883 
Unrated 34,160 36,087 
 --------------------------------- --------------------------------- 
 67,940 70,970 
 ============== ============== 

 
Investments at fair value through profit or loss are neither past due nor impaired. 

 
Collateral held and other credit enhancements  
 
The Company has set up a framework for credit risk mitigation as a means towards reducing credit risk in an 
exposure, at facility level, by a safety net of tangible and realizable securities including approved third-party 
guarantees/ insurance. The types of Credit Risk Mitigation (“CRM”) include collaterals. The Company ensures 
that all documentation used in collateralized transactions and for documenting on and off-balance sheet netting 
and collateral is binding on all parties and is legally enforceable in all relevant jurisdictions.  
 
The Company also ensures that all the documents are reviewed by the appropriate authority and have 
appropriate legal opinions to verify and ensure its enforceability. In certain cases, the Company may also close 
out transactions or assign them to other counterparties to mitigate credit risk. 

 
An estimate of the carrying value of collateral and other security enhancements held against Islamic financing 
are shown below: 
 

 2021 2020 
 AED’000 AED’000 
Collateral value cover   
   
Unsecured facilities 53,970 82,636 
50 – 100% 2,518 6,374 
Above 100% 54,580 65,432 
 --------------------------------- --------------------------------- 
Total Gross Islamic financing  111,068 154,442 
 ============ =========== 

 
While the Company have not repossessed collateral in 2021 and 2020, maintaining repossession rights assist the 
Company in the restructuring and settlement of credit-impaired finances. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
20 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 
 

Amounts arising from ECL 
 
Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating impairment 
 
See accounting policy 3(b)(vii). 
 
Significant increase in credit risk 
 
When determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the Company considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available 
without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on 
the Company’s historical experience and expert credit assessment and including forward-looking information. 
 
The credit risk may also be deemed to have increased significantly since initial recognition based on qualitative 
factors linked to the Parent’s credit risk management processes that may not otherwise be fully reflected in its 
quantitative analysis on a timely basis. These assessments usually reflects in placement of such exposures under 
certain categories, for example watch list. In these cases, PD gets calculated on lifetime basis. 

 
If there is evidence that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk relative to initial recognition, then 
the loss allowance on an instrument returns to being measured based on 12-month PD. Some qualitative 
indicators of an increase in credit risk, such as delinquency or forbearance, may be indicative of an increased 
risk of default that persists after the indicator itself has ceased to exist. In these cases, the Parent determines a 
probation period during which the financial asset is required to demonstrate good behavior to provide evidence 
that its credit risk has declined sufficiently. The Parent is also complying with all probation period requirements 
in relevant jurisdictions stipulated by local central banks. 

 
In addition to the quantitative test based on movement of PD, the Parent also applies expert credit judgement 
to incorporate the estimated impact of factors not captured in the modelled ECL results. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
20 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 
 
Amounts arising from ECL (continued) 
 
Definition of default 
 
The Company  considers a financial asset to be in default when: 

• The borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Company in full, without recourse by the 
Company to actions such as realising security (if any is held); 

• A facility or any material credit obligation to the Company is more than 90 days past due; 
 

Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default and their significance may vary over 
time to reflect changes in circumstances. 
 
Incorporation of forward-looking information 
 
The Company incorporates forward-looking information into both the assessment of whether the credit risk of 
an instrument has increased significantly since its initial recognition and the measurement of ECL. 
 
The Company formulates three economic scenarios: a base case, which is the median scenario assigned a 40% 
probability of occurring, and two less likely scenarios, one upside and one downside, each assigned a 30% 
probability of occurring. External information considered includes economic data and forecasts published by 
governmental bodies and monetary authorities, supranational organizations such as the OECD and the 
International Monetary Fund and selected private-sector and academic forecasters. 
 
The Company has identified and documented key drivers of credit risk and credit losses for each portfolio of 
financial instruments and, using an analysis of historical data, has estimated relationships between macro-
economic variables and credit risk and credit losses. 
 
The economic scenarios used as at 31 December 2021 included the following key indicators for the years ending 
31 December 2022 to 2026. 
 

Region Macro Variable1,2 Scenario 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 
MENA Oil Price Base -11.15% 3.35% 1.47% 4.18% 3.11% 
  Upside -7.25% 3.58% 1.44% 3.99% 3.02% 
  Downside -36.77% 33.95% 6.08% 8.21% 4.56% 
 UAE GDP Base 2.01% 2.59% 2.67% 2.75% 2.66% 
  Upside 5.63% 3.13% 2.02% 2.45% 2.28% 
  Downside -6.00% 2.75% 5.46% 5.15% 4.53% 
 UAE Housing Price Index Base -0.33% 0.69% 2.20% 2.97% 3.20% 
  Upside 2.41% 2.65% 0.95% 0.21% 0.92% 
  Downside -9.50% -3.54% 5.16% 7.67% 7.07% 

 
 

 
 

 
(1) Represents the average annualized increase / decrease over the period.  
(2) There are additional macro variables factors used of other regions relevant to their market. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 

20 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 
 
Amounts arising from ECL (continued) 
 
Modified financial assets 
 
The contractual terms of a islamic financing facility may be modified for a number of reasons, including changing 
market conditions, customer retention and other factors not related to a current or potential credit 
deterioration of the customer. An existing facility whose terms have been modified may be derecognised and 
the renegotiated finances recognised as a new financing facility at fair value in accordance with the accounting 
policy set out in Note 3(b)(iv). 
 
When the terms of a financial asset are modified and the modification does not result in derecognition, the 
determination of whether the asset’s credit risk has increased significantly reflects comparison of: 
 

• its remaining lifetime PD at the reporting date based on the modified terms; with  
• the remaining lifetime PD estimated based on data on initial recognition and the original contractual 

terms. 
 

The Company renegotiates financing facilities to customers in financial difficulties (referred to as ‘forbearance 
activities’) to maximise collection opportunities and minimise the risk of default. Under the Company’s 
forbearance policy, finance forbearance is granted on a selective basis if the debtor is currently in default on its 
debt or if there is a high risk of default, there is evidence that the debtor made all reasonable efforts to pay 
under the original contractual terms and the debtor is expected to be able to meet the revised terms. 

 
For financial assets modified as part of the Company’s forbearance policy, the estimate of PD reflects whether 
the modification has improved or restored the Company’s ability to collect profit and principal and the 
Company’s previous experience of similar forbearance action. As part of this process, the Company evaluates 
the borrower’s payment performance against the modified contractual terms and considers various behavioral 
indicators. 
 
Generally, forbearance is a qualitative indicator of a significant increase in credit risk and an expectation of 
forbearance may constitute evidence that an exposure is credit-impaired (see Note 3(b) (vii)). A customer needs 
to demonstrate consistently good payment behavior over a period of time before the exposure is no longer 
considered to be credit-impaired/in default. 
 
There are no renegotiated Islamic finances that have been restructured due to deterioration in the borrower’s 
financial position for 2021 (2020: Nil). 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 

20 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 
 
Amounts arising from ECL (continued) 

 
Measurement of ECL 
 
The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are: 

• probability of default (PD);  
• loss given default (LGD); and 
• exposure at default (EAD) 

 
The Lifetime PDs are determined based on maturity profile. The maturity profile looks at how defaults develop 
on a portfolio throughout the remaining life of the finances. The maturity profile is based on historical observed 
data. 
 
PD is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon. It is estimated as at a point in time. The 
calculation is based on statistical models tailored to the various categories of counterparties and exposures. 
These statistical models are based on internal data comprising both quantitative and qualitative factors and 
market data (where available). PDs are estimated considering the contractual maturities of exposures and 
estimation is based on current conditions, adjusted to take into account estimates of future conditions that will 
impact PD. 
 
LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. The Company estimates LGD term structure based on 
current collateral, counterparty industry, country of risk and recovery costs that is integral to the financial asset. 
LGD estimates are recalibrated for different economic scenarios incorporating the impact of change in oil prices, 
equity index and other parameters. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 

20 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 
 
Amounts arising from ECL (continued) 
 
Loss allowance 
 
The following tables show reconciliations from the opening to the closing balance of the loss allowance by stage 
off financial instrument. The basis for determining transfers due to changes in credit risk is set out in our 
accounting policy; see Note 3(b)(vii). 
 

 Stage 11 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
     
     
Balance as at 1 Jan 2021 3,201 1,633 7,092 11,926 
 ------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------------- 

 3,201 1,633 7,092 11,926 
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (51) 51 - - 
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (37) - 37 - 
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 24 (24) - - 
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - (28) 28 - 
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 - - - - 
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - 23 (23) - 
 ------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------------- 
 (64) 22 42 - 
Impact of change in provision  (929) 194 1,566 831 
Write-offs and other adjustments (515) (58) (4549) (5,122) 

 ------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------------- 
Balance as at 31 Dec 2021 1,693 1,791 4,151 7,635 
 ============== ============== =========== ============== 

 
 
1On certain assets included as part of other assets, ECL is computed based on simplified approach and reported as part 
of stage 1. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
20 Financial risk management (continued) 

 
Risk management framework (continued) 
 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 
 
Amounts arising from ECL (continued) 
 
Loss allowance 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
     
     
Balance as at 1 Jan 2020 1,377 1,900 6,748 10,025 
 ------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------------- 

 1,377 1,900 6,748 10,025 

Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (16) 16 - - 
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 - - - - 
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 17 (17) - - 
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - (50) 50 - 
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 29 - (29) - 
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - 6 (6) - 
 ------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------------- 
 30 (45) 15 - 
Impact of change in provision  1,794 (222) 838 2,410 
Write-offs and other 
   adjustments - - (509) (509) 

 ------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------------- 
Balance as at 31 Dec 2020 3,201 1,633 7,092 11,926 
 ============== ============== =========== ============== 

 
 

1On certain assets included as part of other assets, ECL is computed based on simplified approach and reported 
as part of stage 1. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
20 Financial risk management (continued) 

 
(a) Credit risk (continued) 

 
The Company monitors concentrations of credit risk by industry sector, counterparty and geographic location. An analysis of concentrations of credit risk at the reporting date is shown below: 

 
 
Concentrations by industry sector 

   Islamic financing Investments at fair value    
through profit or loss  

 
 2021 2020 2021 2020 
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000  

Real estate  - 33,780 34,883 
Government  - 34,160 36,087 
Personal – Islamic financing 56,488 89,010  - 
Personal Islamic financing for business and others 54,580 65,432  - 
 ----------------------------------- ----------------------------------- ----------------------------------- ----------------------------------- 
 111,068 154,442 67,940 70,970 
 ============== ============ ============= ============= 
     

The above numbers are presented on a gross basis and are not adjusted for provisions or profit in suspense if any.  
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
20 Financial risk management (continued) 

 
(a) Credit risk (continued) 

 
Classification of investments as per their counterparties: 
 

 Investments at fair value 
through profit or loss 

 
 2021 2020 
 AED’000 AED’000 
   
Government sector 34,160 36,087 
Corporate / private sector 33,780 34,883 
 -------------------------------- -------------------------------- 
 67,940 70,970 
 ============= ============= 

 
Settlement risk 
 
The Company activities may give rise to risk at the time of settlement of transactions and trades. Settlement risk is the 
risk of loss due to the failure of counterparty to honour its obligations to deliver cash, securities or other assets as 
contractually agreed. Any delay in settlement is rare and monitored. 
 
Derivative related credit risk 
 
Credit risk in respect of derivative financial instruments arises from the potential for a counterparty to default on its 
contractual obligations and is limited to the positive market value of instruments that are favourable to the Company. 
The positive market value is also referred to as the "replacement cost" since it is an estimate of what it would cost to 
replace transactions at prevailing market rates if a counterparty defaults. The Company’s derivative contracts are entered 
into with the Parent. 

 
 (b) Liquidity risk 

 
Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Company is unable to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due 
or that it can only do so at an excessive cost. 
 
Liquidity risk arises from cash flows generated by assets and liabilities, including derivatives and other off-balance sheet 
commitments, not being matched in currency, size, and term. Company ensures that all liabilities can be met as they fall 
due under both businesses as usual and stress conditions without incurring undue cost. 

 
Management of liquidity risk 
 
The Company has defined the liquidity risk appetite at a level so as to ensure that the Company has a controlled liquidity 
risk position with adequate cash or cash-equivalents to be able to meet its financial obligations, in all foreseeable 
circumstances and without incurring substantial additional costs, for a rolling period of three months. The risk appetite 
is supported by a comprehensive risk management framework that includes Company ALCO approved limits for key 
funding and liquidity metrics, stress testing and a contingency funding plan. 

 
The liquidity risk appetite is also defined at a level to ensure continued compliance with current and proposed liquidity 
regulation from both domestic and international regulators, and aligned to support the company’s external credit rating 
objectives. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
20 Financial risk management (continued) 

 
(b) Liquidity risk (continued) 

 
Liquidity limits are defined at the Parent level and are cascaded down throughout the organization to ensure that the 
Company complies with the defined Parent’s Liquidity Risk appetite.  

 
All liquidity policies and procedures are subject to review and approval by G-ALCO. 
 

 
Exposure to liquidity risk 
 
The contractual asset and liability maturity mismatch report without considering the Company’s retention history is 
detailed below.  
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
20 Financial risk management (continued) 

 
 (b) Liquidity risk (continued) 
 

The maturity profile of the assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2021;  
 

 Total Up to 
3 months 

3 months 
to 1 year 

1 to 3 
years 

3 to 5 
years 

Over 5 
years 

Unspecified 
maturity  

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
Assets        
Cash and balances with bank  291,277   -    -    -    -    -    291,277  
Investments at fair value through profit or loss  67,940   -    67,940   -    -    -    -   
Due from banks and financial institutions  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   
Islamic financing  100,049   6,587   6,184   27,937   22,515   36,826   -   
Property and equipment  1,936   -    -    -    -    -    1,936  
Other assets  177,567   176,960   81   -    -    526   
 ----------------------------------- ----------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------------- -------------------------------- 
  638,769   183,547   74,205   27,937   22,515   37,352   293,213  
 ============= ============= =========== =========== =========== ============ =========== 
Liabilities and equity        
Other liabilities  18,986  14,488   -    -    -    -    4,498  
Equity  619,783   -    -    -    -    -    619,783  
 ------------------------------------ ----------------------------------- -------------------------------- -------------------------------- ----------------------------- -------------------------------- ------------------------------------ 
  638,769   14,488  -    -    -    -    624,281  
 ============= ============= ============ ============ =========== =========== ============= 
Undrawn commitments to extend credit - - - - - - - 
 ============= ============ ============ =========== =========== ============ ========== 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 

20 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(b)  Liquidity risk (continued) 
 
      The maturity profile of the assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2020: 

 
 Total Up to 

3 months 
3 months 
to 1 year 

1 to 3 
years 

3 to 5 
years 

Over 5 
years 

Unspecified 
maturity  

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
Assets        
Cash and balances with bank 310,275 - - - - - 310,275 
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 70,970 - - 70,970 - - - 
Due from banks and financial institutions 65,000 65,000  -  - - 
Islamic financing 138,751 14,600 3,578 42,126 29,400 49,047 - 
Non-trading investments 1,457 - - - - - 1,457 
Property and equipment 151,195 150,587 81 - - 527 - 
Other assets ----------------------------------- ----------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------------- -------------------------------- 
 737,648 230,187 3,659 113,096 29,400 49,574 311,732 
 ============= ============= =========== =========== =========== ============ =========== 
        
Liabilities and equity        
Other liabilities 26,137 19,081 - - - - 7,056 
Equity 711,511 - - - - - 711,511 
 -------------------------------- -------------------------------- -------------------------------- -------------------------------- -------------------------------- -------------------------------- -------------------------------- 
 737,648 19,081 - - - - 718,567 
 ============= ============= ============ ============ =========== =========== ============= 
        
Undrawn commitments to extend credit - - - - - - - 
 ============= ============ ============ ============ =========== ============ ============ 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
20 Financial risk management (continued) 

 
 (c) Market risk 

 
Market risk is the risk that the Company’s income or capital will fluctuate on account of changes in the value of a financial 
instruments because of movements in market factors such as profit rates, credit spreads, foreign exchange rates and 
market prices of equity and commodity.  
 
Management of market risk 
 
The Company has set risk limits based on sensitivities and other risk parameters which are closely monitored by the Risk 
Management Division of the Parent and reported regularly to Senior Management and discussed by the Assets and 
Liabilities Committee.  
 
Profit rate risk 
Profit rate risk arises from profit bearing financial instruments and reflects the possibility that changes in profit rates will 
adversely affect the value of the financial instruments and the related income. The Company manages this risk principally 
through monitoring profit rate gaps and by matching the re-pricing profile of assets and liabilities.  
 
The substantial portion of the Company’s assets and liabilities are re-priced within one year.  The Company considers 
market profit rates and future trends prior to offering fixed price Islamic financing.  
 
The effective profit rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash flows through the expected life of the 
financial asset or liability to the carrying amount of the financial asset or liability. The rate is an original effective profit 
rate for a fixed rate instrument carried at amortised cost and a current market rate for a floating instrument or an 
instrument carried at fair value. 
 

 
Profit rate risk is also assessed by measuring the impact of reasonable possible change in profit rate movements. The 
Company assumes a fluctuation in profit rates of 50 basis points (2020: 50 basis points) and estimates the following impact 
on the net profit for the year and equity at that date:  

 Net profit for the year 
 2021 2020 
 AED’000 AED’000 
   

Fluctuation in yield ±342 ±630 
 =========== ============ 

 
 
The profit rate sensitivities set out above are illustrative only and employ simplified scenarios. They are based on AED 
123,170 thousand (2020: AED 135,785 thousand) profit bearing assets and AED Nil (2020: AED Nil) profit bearing liabilities 
with profit re-pricing less than one year, for assessing the impact on net profit. The impact on equity includes the impact 
on net profit and the profit rate sensitivity on the fair value through other comprehensive income portfolio. The sensitivity 
does not incorporate actions that could be taken by management to mitigate the effect of profit rate movements. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
20 Financial risk management (continued) 

 
 (c) Market risk (continued) 
 

The Company’s profit rate gap and sensitivity position based on contractual re-pricing arrangements at 31 December 2021 was as follows: 
 

  Up to 3 months 1 to 3 3 to 5 Over 5 Non-profit 
 Total 3 months to 1 year years years years bearing 
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
Assets        
Cash and balances with banks  291,277        291,277  
Investments at fair value through profit or loss  67,940    67,940   -       
Due from banks and financial institutions        
Islamic financing  100,049   25,489   29,741   16,128   13,405   15,286   
Property and equipment  1,936        1,936  
Other assets  177,567        177,567  
 ----------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------- ------------------------------------ -------------------------------------- ----------------------------------------- -------------------------------------- ------------------------------------------- 
  638,769   25,489   97,681  16,128   13,405   15,286   470,780  
 ============= ============= ============ ============ ============ ============ ============= 
Liabilities and equity        
Other liabilities  18,986        18,986  
Equity  619,783       619,783 
 -------------------------------------------- ------------------------------------------------ -------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------- ----------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------- 
   638,769   -     -     -     -     -     638,769  
 =============== =============== ============= ============= ============ ============= ============== 
On statement of financial position gap   25,489   97,681   16,128   13,405   15,286   (167,989) 
  ------------------------------------------- ----------------------------------------- --------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------- -------------------------------------------- ------------------------------------------ 
Cumulative profit rate sensitivity   25,489  123,170   139,298   152,703   167,989  -  
  ============= ============= ============= ============== ============== ============ 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
20 Financial risk management (continued) 

 
(c) Market risk (continued) 

 
The Company’s profit rate gap and sensitivity position based on contractual re-pricing arrangements at 31 December 2020 was as follows: 
 

  Up to 3 months 1 to 3 3 to 5 Over 5 Non-profit 
 Total 3 months to 1 year years years years bearing 
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
Assets        
Cash and balances with banks 310,275 - - - - - 310,275 
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 70,970 - - 70,970  - - 
Due from banks and financial institutions 65,000 65,000  - - - - 
Islamic financing 138,751 20,725 50,060 67,966 - - - 
Property and equipment 1,457 - - - - - 1,457 
Other assets 151,195 - - - - - 151,195 
 ----------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------- ------------------------------------ -------------------------------------- ----------------------------------------- -------------------------------------- ------------------------------------------- 
 737,648 85,725 50,060 138,936 - - 462,927 
 ============= ============= ============ ============ ============ ============ ============= 
Liabilities and equity        
Other liabilities 26,137 - - - - - 26,137 
Equity 711,511 - - - - - 711,511 
 -------------------------------------------- ------------------------------------------------ -------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------- ----------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------- 
  737,648 - - - - - 737,648 
 =============== =============== ============= ============= ============ ============= ============== 
On statement of financial position gap  85,725 50,060 138,936 - - (274,721) 
  ------------------------------------------- ----------------------------------------- --------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------- -------------------------------------------- ------------------------------------------ 
Cumulative profit rate sensitivity  85,725 135,785 274,721 274,721 274,721 - 
  ============= ============= ============= ============== ============== ============ 
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20 Financial risk management (continued) 

 
 (c) Market risk (continued) 

 
Foreign exchange risk 
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign 
exchange rates and arises from financial instruments denominated in a foreign currency. The Company’s functional 
currency is the UAE Dirham. The Parent has set limits on positions by currency. Positions are closely monitored and 
hedging strategies are used to ensure positions are maintained within established limits.  
 
At 31 December, the Company had the following significant net exposures denominated in foreign currencies:  
 

 Total Total 
 2021 2020 
 (short)/long (short)/long 
 AED’000 AED’000 
Currency   
US Dollar 67,940 70,970 
 ============ ========== 

 
As AED is pegged against US Dollar, the Company’s risk exposure to this currency is limited to that extent. Exposure to 
other foreign currencies is insignificant. 
 

(d) Operational risk 
 

Operational risk is defined as the risk of losses resulting from inadequate or failed processes, people & systems or from 
external events.  
 
Operational risks arise across all businesses in the Company. The primary responsibility to ensure that risks are managed 
and monitored resides with the businesses within the Company. Company’s business are supported by embedded risk 
functions and Parent operational Risk Management as ‘second line of defense’ to ensure robust risk management.  
 
Further, there are reviews conducted by Parent Internal Audit as the ‘third line of defense’. The results of internal audit 
reviews are discussed with the management of the respective divisions and summaries are submitted to the Audit 
Committee.  
 
The Company has an established operational risk framework consisting of policies and procedures to identify, assess, 
monitor, control, report and to manage risks and to notify, identify and rectify incidents. The Operational Risk framework 
also provides the interrelation with other risk categories. Where appropriate, risk is mitigated by way of insurance. 
 
Typically, operational risk events are classified as: 
  

• Internal fraud: Risk of unauthorized activity and fraud perpetrated by employees; 
• External fraud: Risk of fraud or breach of system security by an external party; 
• Employee practices & workplace safety: Risk of failures in employee relations, diversity and discrimination, and 

health and safety risks across the Company; 
• Damage to physical assets: Risk of impact to the Company due to natural disasters; 
• Clients, Products & Business Practices: Risk of failing in assessing client suitability, fiduciary responsibilities, 

improper business practices, flawed products and advisory activities; 
• Business Disruption & System failures: Risk of not planning and testing business continuity and disaster 

recovery for systems; 
• Execution delivery and process management: Risk of failed transaction execution, customer intake and 

documentation, vendor management and monitoring and reporting. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
20 Financial risk management (continued) 

 
(d) Operational risk (continued) 

 
The Board has oversight responsibilities for operational risk management across the Company. These responsibilities are 
delegated and exercised through the Parent Risk & Compliance Committee, which is the senior management forum 
responsible for the oversight of Operational Risk. 
 
Key responsibilities of Parent Operational Risk Committee with regards to Operational risk include to ensure: 
 

• Approval of the Operational Risk Management Framework and oversight over its implementation 
• Approve the strategy and direction for Operational Risk across the Company 
• Establish an effective Governance structure across the Company 

 
(e) Capital management  

 
The Company’s lead regulator, the Central Bank of the UAE, sets and monitors regulatory capital requirements. 
 
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are: 
 
• safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and increase the returns for the shareholders, and 
• comply with regulatory capital requirements set by the Central Bank of the UAE. 
 

(f) Strategic risk 
 

Strategic risk refers to the risk of current or prospective impact on the Company’s earnings, capital, reputation or 
standing arising from changes in the environment the Company operates in and from adverse strategic decisions, 
improper implementation of decisions, or lack of responsiveness to industry, economic or technological changes. It is a 
function of compatibility of Company’s strategic goals, strategies developed to achieve those goals, resources deployed 
to meet those goals and the quality of implementation.  
 
The Company uses several factors to identify and assess impact of strategic risk on its books, including level of integration 
of risk management policies and practices in the strategic planning process, aggressiveness of strategic goals and 
compatibility with developed business strategies, capital support for the strategic initiatives to take care of earnings 
volatility, effectiveness of communication and consistency of application of strategic goals, objectives, corporate culture, 
and behaviour throughout the Company. 
 
Strategic risks are monitored and controlled as part of the strategic planning process wherein the Company reviews the 
progress on strategic initiatives vis-à-vis the plan and considers whether the progress is in line with the plan and the 
external business environment. The strategic plan is periodically reviewed and updated subject to an approval process 
which is also a part of the strategic planning process.  
 

(g) Compliance risk 
 

Compliance Risk refers to the risk to earnings or capital or reputation or continued business existence arising from 
violations of or non-conformance with laws, rules, regulations, prescribed practices, or ethical standards. The Company, 
on a continuous basis, identifies and assesses such risks inherent in all new and existing “material” products, activities, 
processes and systems. The assessment includes risks assessment on non-conformance with laws, rules, regulations, 
prescribed practices, or ethical standards. The Parent’s Risk Management function has a company-wide compliance unit 
that develops internal controls to manage such risks and it is supported by the Parent’s Internal Audit and Legal functions. 
 
In order to monitor compliance and anti-money laundering risks, the Company has set in place the due diligence 
processes, reviews of policies and procedures across the Company, implementation of an integrated compliance and 
AML system which manages name clearance, transaction monitoring and payment monitoring activities, assessment 
through compliance check-lists etc. 
 
Compliance risk is largely mitigated by way of focused policies and procedures, extensive checklist based and on-spot 
due diligence and regular training sessions.  
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20 Financial risk management (continued) 

 
 (h) Reputation risk 
 

Reputation risk is the risk to earnings or capital arising from negative public opinion. This can be due to external or 
internal events.  
 
The Company identifies and assesses reputation risk by clearly defining types of risks to be captured, establishing key 
sources of reputation risk it may be exposed to, based on individual circumstances, describing the risks identified in 
terms of the nature of risk and the potential consequences that the risks may bring to its reputation. The Company also 
refers to other relevant information for risk identification purposes. Such information may be sourced from media 
reports, stakeholder analysis reports, Parent’s internal audit and compliance reports, management exception reports, 
or other early warning indicators.  
 
For reputation risks, apart from the regular monitoring of external and internal events that can result in possible 
reputation risks the Company also has processes to track risks that may affect its reputation. These processes allow the 
BOD and senior management to take prompt corrective actions to address any anticipated reputation event in advance.  
 
In order to manage reputation risks, the Company has set in place a mechanism that entails drawing up action plans to 
identify reputation risk events and facilitate subsequent monitoring of the progress made; for those risks that may be 
very difficult or too costly to eliminate entirely the mechanism requires development of contingency plans as response 
actions. 
 

21 Use of estimates and judgements  
 
In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, IFRS require the management to select suitable accounting 
policies, apply them consistently and make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent and would result 
in relevant and reliable information. The management, based on guidance in IFRS and the IASB’s Framework for the 
Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements has made these estimates and judgments. Listed below are those 
estimates and judgment which could have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements. 
 
Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 

(a) Going concern 
 

The Company’s management has made an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and is 
satisfied that the Company has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, 
management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. Therefore, the financial statements continue to be prepared on the going concern basis. 
 

(b) Impairment charge on financing facilities and non-trading investments 
 
Impairment losses are evaluated as described in accounting policy 3(b)(vii). 
 
The measurement of impairment losses both under IFRS 9 and IAS 39 across all categories of financial assets requires 
judgment, in particular, the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows and collateral values when 
determining impairment losses and the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk. These estimates are driven by 
a number of factors, changes in which can result in different levels of allowances. 
 
The Company’s ECL calculations are outputs of complex models with a number of underlying assumptions regarding the 
choice of variable inputs and their interdependencies. Elements of the ECL models that are considered accounting 
judgments and estimates include: 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
21 Use of estimates and judgments (continued) 

 
(b) Impairment charge on financing facilities and non-trading investments (continued) 

 
The Company’s internal credit grading model, which assigns PDs to the individual grades 
 

• The Company’s criteria for assessing if there has been a significant increase in credit risk and so allowances 
for financial assets should be measured on a lifetime ECL basis and the qualitative assessment 

• The segmentation of financial assets when their ECL is assessed on a collective basis 
• Development of ECL models, including the various formulas and the choice of inputs 
• Determination of associations between macroeconomic scenarios and, economic inputs, such as 

unemployment levels and collateral values, and the effect on PDs, EADs and LGDs 
• Selection of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and their probability weightings, to derive the 

economic inputs into the ECL models 
 

(c) Impairment charge on property and equipment  
 
Impairment losses are evaluated as described in accounting policy note 3(b)(vii). 
 
In determining the net realisable value, the Company uses the selling prices determined by external independent valuer 
companies, having appropriate recognised professional qualifications and recent experience in the location and 
category of property being valued. The selling prices are based on market values, being the estimated amount for which 
a property could be exchanged on the date of the valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s 
length transaction. 
 

(d) Contingent liability arising from litigations 
 
Due to the nature of its operations, the Company may be involved in litigations arising in the ordinary course of business. 
Provision for contingent liabilities arising from litigations is based on the probability of outflow of economic resources 
and reliability of estimating such outflow. Such matters are subject to many uncertainties and the outcome of individual 
matters is not predictable with assurance. 
 

 
 (e) Valuation of financial instruments 

 
The valuation techniques of financial instruments may require certain unobservable inputs to be estimated by the 
management.  
 

(f) Defined benefit plan  
 
The present value of the defined benefit obligation depends on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial 
basis using a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net cost (income) for obligations include 
the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions would impact the carrying amount of the defined benefit obligation. 
 
The Company determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year. This is the profit rate that should be 
used to determine the present value of the estimated future cash flows expected to be required to settle the future 
obligations. In determining the appropriate discount rate, the company considers profit rate of high quality corporate 
bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have the terms to maturity 
approximating the terms of related benefit obligation. 
 
Other key assumptions for defined benefit obligations are based in part on current market conditions. Additional 
information on these assumptions is disclosed in note 10. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
21 Use of estimates and judgments (continued) 
 

(g) Financial asset and liability classification 
 
The Company’s accounting policies provide scope for financial assets and liabilities to be designated on inception into 
different accounting categories in certain circumstances: 

 
(h) Qualifying hedge relationships 

 
In designating financial instruments as qualifying hedge relationships, the Company has determined that it expects the 
hedge to be highly effective over the life of the hedging relationship. 
 

(i) Determination of fair value hierarchy of financial instruments 
 
The Company’s determination of fair value hierarchy of financial instruments is discussed in note 6. 
 

22 Financial assets and liabilities 
 

(a) Valuation control framework 
 
The Company has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair value. This framework 
includes a Valuation Committee that reports to the Parent Risk Committee. The parent also has control functions to 
support this framework (Product Control, Independent Price Verification, Model Validation and Parent’s Market Risk) 
that are independent of front office management. Specific controls include: 
 
• Independent verification of market data used in the valuation process and valuation adjustments when 

significant deviations are observed; 
• Review of significant unobservable and stale inputs and significant changes to the fair value measurement of 

Level 3 instruments; 
• Measurement of exit valuation (‘Bid Offer’); 
• Validation and approval process for new models and frequent review of existing models or when changes are 

performed; 
• Quarterly calibration and back-testing of models against observed market transactions; 
• Model adjustments when inputs are overly simplified or the model has limitations deriving the fair value of a 

position; 
• Analysis and investigation of significant daily valuation movements. 

 
When third party information, such as broker quotes or pricing services is used to measure fair value, Valuation Control 
assesses and documents the evidence obtained from the third parties to support the conclusion that the valuations meet 
the requirements of IFRS Standards. This includes: 
 
• Verifying that the broker or pricing service is approved by the Company for use in pricing the relevant type of 

financial instrument; 
• Understanding how the fair value has been arrived at, the extent to which it represents actual market 

transactions and whether it represents a quoted price in an active market for an identical instrument; 
• When prices for similar instruments are used to measure fair value, understanding how these prices have 

been adjusted to reflect the characteristics of the instrument subject to measurement; and 
• If a number of quotes for the same financial instrument have been obtained, then understanding how fair 

value has been determined using those quotes. 
 
Significant valuation issues are reported to the Parent’s Valuation and Audit Committees. 
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22 Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
 

(b)  Valuation models (continued) 
 
The Company measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs 
used in making the measurements: 

Level 1: Inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical instruments. 
 
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable either directly (i.e. as prices) or 
indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active 
markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are considered less 
than active; or other valuation techniques in which all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market 
data. 
 
Level 3: Inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all instruments for which the valuation technique includes 
inputs that are not observable and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. This 
category includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments for which significant 
unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between the instruments.  

Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash flow models, comparison with similar instruments 
for which observable market prices exist, Black-Scholes and polynomial option pricing models and other valuation 
models. Assumptions and inputs used in valuation techniques include risk-free and benchmark profit rates in estimating 
discount rates, Sukuk, foreign currency exchange rates. 

 
The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value measurement that reflects the price that would be 
received to sell the asset or paid to transfer the liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date.  

 
The Company uses widely recognised valuation models to determine the fair value of common and simple financial 
instruments, such as profit rate swaps, that use only observable market data and require little management judgement 
and estimation. Observable prices or model inputs are usually available in the market for listed debt and equity securities, 
exchange-traded derivatives and simple OTC derivatives such as profit rate swaps. The availability of observable market 
prices and model inputs reduces the need for management judgement and estimation and also reduces the uncertainty 
associated with determining fair values. The availability of observable market prices and inputs varies depending on the 
products and markets and is prone to changes based on specific events and general conditions in the financial markets.  
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22 Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
 

(c) Fair value of financial instruments 
 
The table below sets out the Company’s classification of each class of financial assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts as at 31 December 2021: 
 

 

Designated at 
fair value 

through 
profit or loss Amortized cost 

 
 
 

 AED’000 AED’000 
Financial Assets   
Cash and balances with banks - 291,277 
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 67,940 - 
Due from banks and financial institutions - - 
Other assets 240 177,327 
 ---------------------------- -------------------------------------- 
 68,180 468,604 
 =========== ============== 
Financial Liabilities   
Other liabilities1 699 18,287 
 --------------------------------- --------------------------------------- 
 699 18,287 
 ============= ================ 

 
1 Other liabilities that are held for trading are classified as level 1 in the fair value hierarchy. 
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22 Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
 

(c) Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 
 
The table below sets out the Company’s classification of each class of financial assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts as at 31 December 2020: 
 
 

 

Designated at fair 
value through 

profit or loss Amortised cost 

 
 
 

 AED’000 AED’000 
Financial Assets   
Cash and balances with banks - 310,275  
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 70,970 - 
Due from banks and financial institutions - 65,000 
Other assets 251 150,944 
 ---------------------------- -------------------------------------- 
 71,221 526,219 
 =========== ============== 
Financial Liabilities   
Other liabilities1 3,002 23,135 
 --------------------------------- --------------------------------------- 
 3,002 23,135 
 ============= ================ 
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22 Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

 
(c) Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 

 
Financial instruments measured at fair value - hierarchy  
 
The table below analyses financial instruments measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period, by 
the level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorised: 
 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
As at 31 December 2021     
Investments designated at fair value through  
profit or loss 67,940 - - 67,940 

 -------------------------------- -------------------------------- -------------------------------- -------------------------------- 
  67,940 - - 67,940 
 ============= ============= ============= ============= 
     
As at 31 December 2020     
Investments designated at fair value through 
profit or loss 70,970 - - 70,970 

 -------------------------------- -------------------------------- -------------------------------- -------------------------------- 

 70,970 - - 70,970 

 ============= ============= ============= ============= 

     
 

Financial assets also consist of cash and balances with banks, due from banks and financial institutions, Islamic financing 
and receivables carried at amortised costs. Financial liabilities consist of payables carried at amortised cost.  
 
 
 
 




